Notch, Numb and Numb-Like Responses to Exercise Induced Muscle Damage in Human Skeletal Muscle

By

Matthew Powell Bubak

Submitted to the graduate degree program in Exercise Physiology and the Graduate Faculty of the University of Kansas in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Chair: Dr. Philip Gallagher

Dr. Andrew Fry

Dr. Trent Herda

Dr. Dawn Emerson

Dr. Eduardo Rosa-Molinar

Date Defended: 28 April 2020

The dissertation committee for Matthew Bubak certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation:

Notch, Numb and Numb-Like Responses to Exercise Induced Muscle Damage in Human Skeletal Muscle

Chair: Dr. Philip Gallagher

Date Approved: 28 April 2020

Abstract

Introduction: Notch proteins are a single-pass type 1 transmembrane protein that regulates cellular proliferation and inhibits myogenic differentiation. Numb and Numb-Like are adaptor proteins. Among their functions is control of cell fate determination and progression of cell differentiation via inhibition of Notch. While no role for Numb-Like has been found in cells of the myogenic lineage, Numb promotes myogenic differentiation of satellite cells. The roles these proteins in human skeletal muscle in response to exercise-induced muscle damage have yet to be examined. Purpose: The purpose of this investigation is to examine changes in the expression of Notch, Numb and Numb-Like in human skeletal muscle after a bout of muscle damage via eccentric exercise. Methods: Seventeen, recreationally trained, male subjects signed an informed consent approved by The University of Kansas's Institutional Review Board and were randomly assigned to one of two groups: a control group (n = 5) or a damage group (n = 12). Subjects completed a one repetition maximum (1RM) in leg extension followed by seven sets of ten repetitions of eccentric leg extension at %120 of 1RM with a two minutes of rest period between sets. Four muscle biopsies of the *vastus lateralis* were collected at baseline, 3-hours post- two days post-, and five days post-muscle damage and analyzed utilizing Western blot and quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction analyses. The results were analyzed using two separate analyses. The first being a 2X3 (Group X Time) Two-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA for the baseline measures, two days post- and five days post-muscle damage time points with the exclusion of the 3-hour post damage time point. The second being a One-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA with only the experimental group. Results: There were no significant main effects of time for the damage group with the inclusion of the three hour time point from baseline for Numb (p > 0.05: 3-Hour p = 0.22, Day 2 p = 0.89, and Day 5 p = 0.17) and Numb-Like (3-Hour p = 0.63,

Day 2 p = 0.30, and Day 5 p = 0.77). Additionally, no significant differences in mRNA expression were observed for *Numb* between groups two days post- and five days post-muscle damage for Numb (p = 0.13 and p = 0.74, respectively) and Numb-Like (p = 0.28 and p = 0.60, respectively). There was no significant main effect of time for Notch1 among the damage group with the inclusion of the three-hour time point from baseline (3-Hour p = 0.84, Day 2 p = 0.28, and Day 5 p = 0.20). Additionally, no significant differences in mRNA expression were observed for *Notch1* between groups at two days post-muscle damage (p = 0.56). However, there was a significant increase in *Notch1* at five days post-muscle damage between the exercise group (1.91 ± 1.29 fold change) and the control group (0.52 ± 0.38 fold change) from baseline measures (p = 0.04). **Conclusion**: Numb and Numb-Like expression was unaltered post-muscle damage, while Notch mRNA expression was increased after exercise-induced muscle damage. These results indicate that Notch and Numb-Like may have a greater role in muscle repair after strenuous exercise in humans than previously thought. Funding provided by NIA grant 5R01AG060341-02 to CPC and the CSACSM Doctoral Grant.

Acknowledgements

Funding provided by NIA grant 5R01AG060341-02 to CPC and the CSACSM Doctoral Grant.

Table of Contents

Contents

Chapter I: Introduction	1
Chapter II: Literature Review	5
2.1 Introduction	.5
2.2 Satellite Cells	.6
2.2.1 Introduction to Satellite Cells	.6
2.2.2 Satellite Cell Symmetrical and Asymmetrical Division	.7
2.2.3 Satellite Cell Populations	.9
2.2.4 Satellite Cells Vary Upon Cellular Environment	0
2.2.5 Satellite Cells Response to Exercise	1
2.2.6 Pax-7	2
2.2.7 MyoD	3
2.2.8 Myogenin	4
2.2.9 Myostatin	4
2.3 Electron Microscopy	5
2.4 Notch	6
2.4.1 Notch Structure and Function	6
2.4.2 Notch Ligands	8
2.4.3 Notch Canonical Pathway	9
2.4.4 Downstream Signaling of Notch	20
2.4.5 Notch PEST Domain	21
2.5 Numb and Numb-Like	22
2.5.1 Numb and Numb-Like Inhibition of Notch	22
2.5.2 Numb: PTB Domain and PRR Region	24
2.5.3 Numb Isoforms and Numb-Like Interaction	27
2.5.4 Notch, Numb and Numb-Like	28
2.5.5 Notch, Numb, and Numb-Like: Redundancy	29
2.5.6 Notch, Numb, and Numb-Like: Independence	30
2.5.7 Animal Models	31
2.5.8 Human Models	33
2.6 Protein Interactions and Regulators of Notch, Numb and Numb-Like	35

2.6.1 Sirt1	35
2.6.2 microRNAs	
2.6.3 Itch	
2.6.4 Ligand of Numb Protein X	
2.6.5 MyoD	
2.6.6 MDM2 and P53	
2.6.7 Wnt	
2.6.8 β-catenin	40
2.6.9 Bone Morphogenetic Protein	42
2.6.10 Other interactions and regulators	42
2.8 Conclusion	43
Chapter III: Methods	
3.1 Study design	45
3.2 Diet and Exercise Control Restrictions	
3.3 One Repetition Maximum and Exercise Protocol	46
3.4 Muscle Biopsies	47
3.5 Gene Expression	47
3.6 Protein Analysis	48
3.7 Statistical Analysis	49
Chapter IV: Results	
4.1 Notch1	
4.2 Numb	53
4.3 Numb-Like	55
Chapter V: Discussion	
References	64
Appendix A: Raw Data	

Chapter I: Introduction

Human skeletal muscle is a stable, post-mitotic tissue with infrequent turnover of myonuclei under normal physiological conditions. However, turnover does occur in response to myofibril damage resulting from day-to-day activity or exercise. Extensive myofibril damage may occur during resistance exercise. In particular unaccustomed, heavy, or eccentric exercise results in deterioration in the Z-line, thick myofilaments, mitochondria content, and A-band disturbances, predominately in type II fibers (1). Extensive damage to myofibrils has the capacity to alter skeletal muscle structure and function from one to three days (2) and possibly longer. Recent evidence has suggested that muscle specific progenerator cells, satellite cells, are necessary for the adaptations and repair process produced from exercise induced muscle damage (3).

This myogenic process requires highly specific signaling pathways in order to activate satellite cell proliferation, differentiation and fusion. Notch, Numb and Numb-Like, a homolog of Numb, have been shown to participate in neurogenesis, embryonic myogenesis and somite formation with regulatory roles in cell proliferation and differentiation in numerous tissues (4-7). Notch receptors (Notch1, 2, 3 and 4) are type I transmembrane proteins that bind several ligands and induce intracellular signaling. Once Notch binds to a ligand, two proteolytic cleavages occur to produce the Notch Intracellular Domain (NICD) which allows for the translocation of the NICD to the nucleus to induce transcription. The translocation of the NICD stimulates the proliferation of cells via increasing the gene expression of Hairy-Enhancer of Spilt (HES) proteins (4, 8, 9), potentially increasing the number of satellite cells available for myonuclei production and myofibril regeneration. Numb and Numb-Like are hypothesized to have redundant functions that inhibit the translocation of the NICD, altering the satellite cell's linage (10, 11).

There are four isoforms of Numb with molecular masses of 65, 66, 71 and 72 kDa while Numb-Like only has one isoform. Numb and Numb-Like function as regulators of cellular progression. Numb in particular is asymmetrically segregated into one daughter cell, while Numb-Like is symmetrically segregated, indicating that Numb-Like may have redundant and independent functions of Numb (4). Both of these homologs are derived from the same family of proteins (4) and appear to have redundant functions inhibiting the NICD to induce a transition in satellite cells from proliferation to myogenic differentiation (12). Numb and Numb-Like inhibit signaling via sequestering the NICD in the cytoplasm and inducing ubiquitination (13). The exclusion of the NICD from the nucleus is hypothesized to transition the satellite cell from a proliferative state to a differentiated state and promotes the development of myoblasts (10, 11). These molecular signaling pathways suggest that Numb and Numb-Like inhibit the downstream signaling of Notch progressing and promoting myogenic differentiation and promote muscle repair.

The majority of research conducted has focused on Numb in *Drosophila* and rodent models (4, 12, 14-16). To our knowledge, only one study, by Carey et al. (2007), has been conducted in humans investigating Notch and Numb after exercise. The findings of this study indicate that <u>Notch1</u> and *Numb* mRNA were significantly decreased with age in comparison to younger individuals. However, two hours after an acute bout of exercise, there were no differences seen between younger and older individuals. Therefore, exercise may have the capacity to increase the muscle regenerative capacity of aging skeletal muscle. Also, Carey et al. (2007) determined that *Notch3* mRNA expression peaks 48 hours after induced differentiation in vitro, with increases in expression myogenin, a marker of differentiation. These data indicate that Notch3 may have a role in differentiation (10). Interestingly, in mice Notch1 and Notch2 activation increases and maintains

the self-renewal capacity of the satellite cell pool (17). However, this study was conducted in mice in non-physiological conditions. Therefore, understanding the temporal regulation and the role of Notch, in conjunction with the negative regulators of Notch (Numb and Numb-Like), after an acute bout of exercise in human satellite cells is necessary (skeletal muscle has yet to be determined). To our knowledge, no studies have investigated the temporal expression of Notch, Numb and Numb-Like in human muscle after an acute bout of eccentric exercise.

This study examined the changes in Notch, Numb and Numb-Like expression in human skeletal muscle after a bout of eccentric exercise. Twelve subjects performed an eccentric bout of leg extensions that targeted the quadriceps (n = 12) and five subjects served as a control group (n = 5). Skeletal muscle biopsies of the *vastus lateralis* were obtained pre- (Pre), 3-hours post- (3-Hour), two days post- (Day 2) and five days post-muscle damage (Day 5). Analysis of skeletal muscle tissue was done for *Notch, Numb* and *Numb-Like* mRNA and their gene products, which are essential for the regulation of satellite cell proliferation and differentiation that may regulate skeletal muscle growth after exercise. We hypothesized that Notch expression will increase in the later stages of muscle repair with corresponding increases in protein and non-significant increases in Numb-Like mRNA and protein. These hypotheses are based on prior research of Numb having the dominate role in comparison to Numb-Like.

Chapter II: Literature Review

2.1 Introduction

During exercise induced muscle growth and regeneration, satellite cells are vital for myofiber development and renewal. These progenitor cells require a highly specific signaling pathway in order to activate satellite cell proliferation, differentiation and fusion. In skeletal muscle, paired box transcription factor (Pax-7) is required for the development and signaling pathway of satellite cell function (18). In addition to Pax-7, myoblast determination protein (MyoD) and Myogenin are two members of a family of myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs) involved in the regulation and coordination of myogenic differentiation. During satellite cell activation, MyoD initiates cycling of myoblasts increasing the number of undifferentiated cells. Downstream of MyoD, Myogenin induces the transition from myoblasts to myocytes and myotubes (19).

In conjunction with Pax-7 and MRFs, Notch, Numb and Numb-Like are potential regulators of satellite cell activity and will be the primary focus of this review. Notch contributes to muscle development, regenerative properties and proliferation of satellite cells. In contrast, Numb and Numb-Like proteins are hypothesized to inhibit Notch signaling and the expression of some myogenic genes, decreasing proliferation and promoting differentiation (10). The balance and timing of gene expression among these genes determines the activity levels of satellite cells as well as muscle repair and growth after exercise.

2.2 Satellite Cells

2.2.1 Introduction to Satellite Cells

Skeletal muscle has extraordinary ability to respond to environmental stimuli. The type of stimuli can result in muscle specific adaptations. For example, being sedentary leads to muscle atrophy while participating in exercise can induce in muscle injury that ultimately leads to growth and regeneration. This remarkable renewable capacity in response to exercise is thought to be attributed to satellite cells due to the majority of evidence indicating that that skeletal muscle nuclei are post-mitotic. Therefore, muscle is unable to go through cellular replication to produce two identical daughter cells. Skeletal muscle thus depends upon satellite cells, which undergo cellular division via mitosis, to replicate muscle tissue in response to damaged cells.

Satellite cell were discovered via electron microscopy by Dr. Mauro in 1961 (20) and are skeletal muscle specific stem cells involved in maintenance, repair, remodeling and growth during muscular stress. Specifically, these primary stem cells are responsible for maintaining a homeostatic environment and the induction of new myonuclei during muscle growth and regeneration in response to stimuli. Evidence suggest that satellite cells are essential for muscle fiber regeneration after extensive injuries are sustained via exercise or mechanical injury. Abolition of satellite cells results in muscle dysfunction and the complete absence of muscle regeneration after injury (21). However, some evidence suggest that satellite cells are not necessary after minor muscle damage occurs (3). Since the function of satellite cells is to repair muscle tissue, they are in close proximity to sites of damage between the sarcolemma and basal lamina of the muscle fibers (22) which enable them to be readily available for repair.

As stated earlier, muscle repair can occur in the absence of satellite cells. For example, during everyday muscle damage, intracellular vesicles containing essential RNAs and extracellular proteins are recruited to the site of myofibril damage and repaired (23). During extensive myofibril damage, e.g. exercise, there is an increase in necrosis, apoptosis, inflammation which in turn activates satellite cell proliferation and differentiation (3). The abolition of satellite cells via expression of diphtheria toxin receptor under control of the Pax-7 locus, severely reduces the regenerative capacity of skeletal muscle in response to exercise induced damage (24). However, other cell types, such as fibroblasts and adipocytes, are also critical for skeletal muscle regeneration. For instance, the abolition of satellite cells results in a complete loss in muscle regeneration and dysregulation of fibroblasts with an increase in connective tissue. Whereas an ablation of fibroblasts results in early differentiation and reduction in the satellite cell pool (21). Therefore, muscle regeneration is likely that a dynamic interaction among multiple cell types.

2.2.2 Satellite Cell Symmetrical and Asymmetrical Division

Satellite cells are specialized cells that have two fates during activation: 1) differentiation into myoblasts (a form of progenitor cells, a biological cell that has a more specific destination than a stem cell, that gives rise to an immature muscle cell or myofiber) or 2) clonogenicity (renewal of the satellite cell populace or pool via proliferation) (22, 25). The process of proliferation involves cellular division to form new cells, while differentiation is the specialization of the cells into a definitive state as a mature muscle cell.

During proliferation satellite cells have the capacity to undergo symmetric or asymmetric division. This balance is critical for satellite cell and skeletal muscle maintenance and homeostasis. During symmetrical division, two identical undifferentiated daughter cells are generated. Throughout asymmetrical division, one daughter cell maintains self-renewal while the other cell progresses through differentiation (25, 26). Evidence has shown that the template chromosomes, during DNA replication, in the S phase are segregated to the stem like daughter cell while the newly formed copies were segregated to the differentiating daughter cell during asymmetrical cellular division (25, 26). Therefore, it is hypothesized that the reserve pool of satellite cells are adherent to the immortal DNA hypothesis proposed by Dr. John Cairns (1975) (27), potentially reducing mutations. This cellular proliferation and differentiation are under a strict temporal regulation. For example, satellite cell number in the G0 (quiescent state of a cell) and G1 (interphase – also known as the growth stage) phase increases 24 and 48 hrs post-resistance exercise, indicating that satellite cells have gone through one cellular cycle and are undergoing proliferation (28, 29). Therefore, several factors contribute to the regulation of satellite cells and determine the cellular fate of these highly specialized cells.

Proliferation and differentiation of satellite cells is also reversible and has the capacity to change the lineage of a cell. Upon activation during quiescence, satellite cells progress through proliferation. At this junction the cells can continue to proliferate, differentiate into myoblasts, or return to a state of quiescence (30). Myoblasts then have the ability to proliferate or differentiate (31). This flexibility and reversibility of skeletal muscle tissue and lineage specification is referred to as tissue plasticity. Skeletal muscle has a high level of plasticity and responds well to anabolic and catabolic stimuli, which is in part due to satellite cells activity.

2.2.3 Satellite Cell Populations

Previously, satellite cells were considered to be homogeneous as myogenic progenitor cells indicating that all satellite cells were similar in genetic composition. However, recent evidence has suggested that during differentiation, satellite cells exhibit heterogeneity, the quality of being diverse in the cellular outcome. Distinct populations of satellite cells undergo mitosis at different rates. Approximately 80% of total satellite cells are readily available to enter the cell cycle (responsive population), while approximately 20% enter the cell cycle at a much slower rate (reserve population). The reserve population is hypothesized to remain in the quiescent state while the responsive population mobilizes to repair tissue. The reserve population is activated after extensive damage when a greater level of muscle regeneration is necessary (32). Although both the responsive and reserve populations are in the same quiescent state, these two populations have differing genetic compositions that make one population able to respond quicker. Therefore, indicating the satellite cells in the same state have a degree of heterogeneity.

Another subpopulation of satellite cells are "true" stem cells that differentiate into multiple mesenchymal lineages which may include fibroblasts, myocytes, adipocytes, or osteocytes (25, 26, 33). This is dependent upon the expression of genes that activate different molecular pathways. For example, during the progression through the myogenic lineage, the majority of satellite cells do not express CD45 and Sca-1 within the cellular membrane and do not differentiate into adipocytes or fibroblasts. However, satellite cells that do not express CD45 and express Sca-1 can differentiation into adipocytes and fibroblasts (3). Again, this alludes to the ability of satellite cells to alter the cell line lineage and their high level of plasticity as well as their heterogeneity.

However, in skeletal muscle, satellite cells predominately give rise to myoblasts which then form multinucleated myotubes.

2.2.4 Satellite Cells Vary Upon Cellular Environment

In adult skeletal muscle satellite cells represent approximately 2%-7% of the nuclei (34). This can vary dependent upon the fiber type, with fast twitch fibers having fewer satellite cells than slow twitch fibers (35). However, this is also muscle group dependent. Gibson and Schultz (1982) indicated that the extensor digitorum longus, in adult mice, had a greater quantity of satellite cells in the Type IIA fibers with fewer, but equal, quantity of satellite cells surrounding Type IIB and Type I fiber. Surrounding the soleus, satellite cells were rarely found on the Type IIA fibers but high quantities were located near Type I fibers (36). However, in humans there are greater number of satellite cells clustered around Type I muscle fibers (37). These data indicate satellite cell quantity may vary dependent upon fiber type, muscle type, and species. Additionally, satellite cells are found adjacent to capillaries regardless of fiber type (38), at the ends of myofibers during embryonic, longitudinal muscle growth (39), and at presynaptic regions of skeletal muscles (40). These data indicate that the localization of satellite cells is nonrandom, and it is likely that their location makes them readily available for muscle regeneration in response to injury or damage. It should be noted that the location and number of satellite cells may vary due to the mythologies utilized by the researchers.

2.2.5 Satellite Cells Response to Exercise

Additionally, muscle contractile activity has the capacity to alter satellite cell number and activation. After a single bout of 15 sets of 20 repetitions of high-force eccentric knee extensions on an isokinetic dynamometer, the number and activation of satellite cells increases 24 hours postmuscle damage in type II muscle fibers accompanied by a 73% increase in satellite cell number, with no change in type I muscle fibers (41). This suggests that either muscle damage occurs in a fiber type specific manner or satellite cells associated with type II are stimulated to a greater extent in response to eccentric exercise induced muscle damage. After electrical stimulation of the gastrocnemius medialis muscle, in vivo satellite cell activity increased 7-fold. Seattleite cell activity was measure via immunohistochemical labeling with CD56, Pax-7, NCAM and Ki67 (37). In addition to fiber type, age and training status can also alter the quantity of satellite cells available. Crameri et al. (2004) demonstrated that aging populations have a decrease quantity of satellite cells but resistance training was able to stimulate an increase the satellite cell pool as early as four days following a single bout of high intensity exercise (42). In healthy males, satellite cell number has been shown to increase beginning at 24 hrs post-exercise, peaks at 72 hrs post-exercise and is detectable for up to five days post-exercise (22). In rat skeletal muscle, satellite cell differentiation peaked seven days after cells were placed in cell culture (43). These data indicate that satellite cells activity and number are highly dependent upon several key factors such as muscle composition, fiber type, muscle activity, and age.

When muscle damage occurs, satellite cells migrate to the periphery of the muscle fiber while increasing Pax-7 and MyoD expression (19, 44). Then, the immature myogenic cells are replaced with mature myoblasts that undergo several rounds of cell cycling decreasing Pax-7 expression

while increasing myogenin expression. These cells then differentiate to form myocytes, a mature muscle cell (19, 45, 46). In response to exercise, satellite cells proliferate and differentiate becoming myoblasts in a similar fashion. This process is controlled by MRFs such as myogenin, MyoD, Myf-5, and Myf-6 (11). All of these regulator factors are basic helix loop helix (bHLH) transcriptions factors present during myogenic differentiation. MRFs and other essential proteins are responsible for the transcription of myosin heavy chain proteins and creatine phosphokinase enzymes that are imperative for muscle function. Furthermore, this family of transcription factors is believed to be regulated by Notch signaling, which is an essential component of satellite cell proliferation.

2.2.6 Pax-7

Pax-7 is a transcription factor that has a critical role in satellite cells proliferation. A transcription factor is a protein that controls the rate of transcription. It does this by binding to a specific target sequence in the DNA and promoting or repressing the binding of RNA polymerase. *Pax-7* is exclusively expressed in satellite cells of developed muscle cells, primarily in the nuclei of myofibers and ablation of Pax-7 results in reduced regenerative capacity of skeletal muscle (24). Pax-7 is also considered a canonical biomarker for satellite cells because it is expressed across multiple species and in all quiescent and proliferating cells and therefore is utilized to determine the location of satellite cells in vivo. Previous research hypothesized that satellite cell regulation was coordinated via the expression of Pax-7 and the MRFs (18). However, current literature hypothesizes the muscle repair pathway to be controlled by the Notch signaling pathway. In adult males that underwent an acute, eccentric only, plyometric exercise bout, *Pax-7* expression was significantly increased in relation to satellite cell activity. The increases in Pax-7 positive satellite

cells were shown to increase proliferation but not differentiation. Additionally, in mice that had over expression of *Notch1* there was an increase in *Pax-7* expression. In contrast, mice that had impaired *Notch1* expression had decreased *Pax-7* and impaired regeneration of muscle. It should be noted that this study was done in mice cell culture but this pathway has been shown to be conserved across species (47). Therefore, these results indicate that Pax-7 has a role satellite cell proliferating but not differentiating (48) and are potentially regulated by Notch.

2.2.7 MyoD

MyoD is expressed during satellite cell differentiation, but not proliferation and is considered the master regulator of myogenesis (49, 50). During satellite cell activation and entrance to the cell cycle, MyoD is upregulated followed by increases in Myf-5 and MRF4 (51). This indicates that MyoD is one of the earliest markers of myogenic commitment. In cell culture and frog embryos, high levels of *MyoD* expression induced terminal differentiation of myoblasts, indicating key regulatory roles during muscle development. *Notch1* expression antagonizes MyoD, via its downstream product Hairy-Enhancer of Split proteins (HES) 1 and HES Related Family BHLH Transcription Factor With YRPW (HEY) 1, which binds to MyoD at the bHLH region, decreasing satellite cell differentiation and limiting myogenesis in these cells (52-54). Therefore, it is hypothesized that Notch regulates MyoD expression during the activation of satellite cell during muscle growth. This hypothesis has yet to be investigated in humans, but due to the conservation of the canonical Notch pathway it is hypothesized that Notch regulates MyoD expression in humans.

2.2.8 Myogenin

Myogenin is another bHLH transcription factor that is involved in the coordination of myogenesis and satellite cell regulation. The primary role of Myogenin is to control the transition from myoblasts into myocytes and subsequently myotubes and is expressed last during the final stages of fusion and differentiation (51, 55). In human skeletal muscle homogenate after an acute bout of endurance- and resistance-type exercise, Myogenin and MRF4 increased expression 3.4 and 2.6 fold, respectively, nine hours post exercise (56), a key timing for myogenic differentiation. This process particularly involves the fusion of myoblasts. The primary role of the fusion of myoblasts is to synthesize the formation of myotubes and mature muscle fibers (57). Figure 1 illustrates the hierarchy of transcription factors regulating skeletal muscle (58).



Figure 1: These MRFs transcriptionally and epigenetically control myogenic linage and satellite cells. Illustration from Figure 1b of Wang and Rudnicki, 2012 (58). These MRFs act in a sequential manner in order to induce satellite cell quiescence, proliferation and differentiation.

2.2.9 Myostatin

Myostatin is a myokine and a transforming growth factor-b family member that inhibits myogenesis, specifically the proliferation of satellite cells. Myostatin has been shown to induce satellite cell quiescence and negatively regulates self-renewal capacity. Mice lacking the

Myostatin gene, muscle fibers undergo hyperplasia and hypertrophy increasing overall muscle mass by approximately double and increasing the overall quality of the muscle (59). These adaptations are not limited to knockout models of mice. In mice that underwent immobilization of the hind leg and received a Myostatin inhibitor, the mice were able to maintain muscle mass, fiber size and force production (60). These data also indicate that Myostatin potentially regulates satellite cell activation and fusion to myofibers. Interestingly, in satellite cells that are Myostatin deficient, there is an increase in the number of activated satellite cells in comparison to wild type in mice during embryogenesis (61). Therefore, Myostatin has been shown to be a key regulator in satellite cell function and may be a key factor in the regulation of Numb, Numb-Like and Notch.

2.3 Electron Microscopy

Electron microscopy is a technique used to obtain high resolution images of both biological and non-biological specimens. As the name implies, electron microscopes utilize electrons to charge a sample instead of light such as an epifluorescences or confocal microscope. The basic principle of electron microscopy is that electrons are shot, via an electron gun, toward a sample. Those electrons are focused via magnetic lenses and metal apertures to from a single beam. The beam is further focused with more and more magnetic lenses onto the sample which interrupts the electron beam. The interaction of the electron beam and the sample then scatters the electrons which are detected and transformed into an image (62).

This analytical tool yields information about the topography, morphology, composition and crystallographic information of a sample down to one angstrom in size. In general, there are two types of electron microscopes: 1) transmission electron microscope (TEM) or 2) scanning electron

microscope (SEM). TEM focuses a narrow beam through relatively thin specimens at a specific location and permits the study of the inner structures and delineations of objects. SEM focuses an electron beam onto a thicker specimen where the electrons are then scattered. The electron beam is then scanned across the specimen to generate an image that characterizes the surface of an object or sample. The third type of electron microscope is a scanning transmission electron microscope (STEM) that utilizes principles from TEM and SEM. STEM requires the use of thin samples, like TEM, and the electron beam scans across the sample, like SEM.

Satellite cell were discovered via electron microscopy by Dr. Mauro in 1961 by utilizing the sartorius and ileofibularis of a frog and of the sartorius and tongue muscle a white rat. Based upon the location, beneath the basal lamina membrane on the periphery of the myofiber plasma membrane, it was hypothesized that they were post-natal myofibril repair and regeneration. The anatomical location gives the satellite cell a "wedge" morphology when observed via electron miscopy in a longitudinal section (20) and a circular or oval appearance in a correctional section. In addition to their distinct shape, satellite cells have a large nuclear-to-cytoplasmic ratio, a reduced number of organelles, small nucleus, and condensed interphase chromatin (3).

2.4 Notch

2.4.1 Notch Structure and Function

The Notch signaling pathway is highly conversed throughout multiple organisms (63). In mammals, there are four Notch proteins (Notch1, -2, -3 and -4), which are single-pass type 1 transmembrane proteins that contain epidermal growth factor like repeats (10). Therefore, Notch

proteins function as signaling proteins during short-range communication between cells (64). In skeletal muscle, Notch proteins have several roles in myogenesis which have predominantly been explored in *Drosophila* and mouse models, illustrating the role of Notch in inhibiting the formation of mature muscle cells (65). Primarily, Notch proteins are involved in signaling that enhance satellite cell and myoblast proliferation and inhibit myogenic differentiation (66). Notch is hypothesized to have a regulatory role in maintaining satellite cell quiescence, regulation in cell proliferation and cell determination in symmetrical cell division (63). Notch is essential for the early phases of muscle development and promoting proliferation (26).

However, some evidence suggest that the different Notch isoforms may have independent functions. For example, Cui and colleagues (2019) demonstrated that Notch1 expression is upregulated five days after upstream stimulation, and Notch1 is vital for differentiation of Mesenchymal stem cells (67). Carey et al. (2007) found Notch3 mRNA expression increase 48-72 hours post myoblast differentiation in cell cultures. They hypothesized that Notch may have dual roles in proliferation and differentiation of satellite cells and myoblasts (10). In addition, the increase in Notch3 expression seen in culture corresponds with an increase in Myogenin expression. Therefore, Notch expression may be low during the early stages of myogenesis and expressed later during differentiation of myoblasts (10). These data, in conjunction with previous research, indicate Notch may stimulate proliferation and differentiation in progenitor cells, depending on temporal regulation and levels of expression. Alternatively, the activation of Notch in the later stages of muscle growth could indicate a return to quiescence and inhibition of myogenesis. Bi and colleagues (2019) demonstrated that activation of Notch1, via stage-specific Cre alleles, in myocytes results in dedifferentiation to Pax-7 positive, quiescent satellite cells. This

resulted in decreased muscle growth and in postnatal lethality. However, Notch1 expression in myotubes improves muscle regeneration and increases exercise performance in age and diseased models (68). These data represent non-physiological states and therefore Notch signaling in vivo, in myofibers warrants further investigation.

2.4.2 Notch Ligands

Notch proteins have five ligands that bind to the extracellular domain: Jagged-1 and -2 and Deltalike-1, -3, and -4 (10). These ligands are also transmembrane proteins with epidermal growth factor like repeats. These ligands are a member of the Delta/serrate/jagged family of proteins that interact with the membrane protein Notch and regulate cell fate decision by activating and phosphorylating Notch receptors which stimulate a cascade of proteolytic cleavages (69). Upon activation Delta and Jagged are cleaved via metalloproteases when stimulated via Notch binding. The ligands are can compete with the cleavage of Notch by brining with γ -secretases. The inner portions of the proteins are released and translocated to the nucleus, indicating that Notch and its ligands are processed by the same machinery (70). However, it should be noted that in skeletal muscle, Deltalike seems to be the primary affecter in Notch signaling (71).

During skeletal muscle injury, Delta-like is necessary for regeneration (72) and is upregulated, potentially to induce the expansion of satellite cells via Notch signaling (73). In aged skeletal muscle Delta-like ligand upregulation in response to injury is limited, potentially altering the ability of aged skeletal muscle leading to impaired regeneration (74). Delta-like 1 is the primary ligand for Notch signaling and has been shown to induce p53 transcriptional activity in an RBP-J

dependent manner in vitro in a Delta-like 1 treated satellite cells. This was further demonstrated by the abolition of Delta-like 1 and the induction of Notch downstream target genes HEY1, HEY2 and HEYL which induced p53 transcriptional activity (75). It should be noted that Notch activation did not increase the transcription of p53. Delta-like 1 is asymmetrically expressed in dividing satellite cells, with higher expression in the cell that is destined for differentiation (64), potentially initiating differentiation of neighboring satellite cells.

2.4.3 Notch Canonical Pathway

Notch proteins must be translated and inserted into the cellular membrane in order to be functional. In order for Notch to become functional it first must undergo several rounds of cleavage. Frist, the Notch receptor protein is proteolitcally cleaved by PC5/furin at site one (S1) in the cytoplasm. The first cleavage causes translocation and endocytosis of Notch to the cellular membrane. The second site (S2) is flanked by the C-terminus and the negative regulatory region (NRR), which is toward the N-terminus of the protein. The NRR prevents the cleavage at S2 (76). However, upon Notch binding to its ligand, a conformation change occurs, and ADAM metalloproteases cleaves the extracellular portion of the protein at the second site (S2). Metalloproteases assist in the breakdown of extracellular matrixes (77) and up regulates following muscle damage (78). The cleavage by metalloproteases produces the Notch extracellular truncation (NEXT) fragment. The NEXT fragment is short lived and then cleaved at site three (S3) and four (S4) via γ -secretase at the inner plasma membrane and near the middle of the transmembrane domain, synthesizing and activating the NICD (52). This cleavage can be blocked via γ -secretase inhibitors (79, 80). The primary from of Notch, Notch1, is cleaved between the amino acids Gly 1743 and Val 1744 (81). The NICD then translocates to the nucleus to bind to CBF1/Su(H)/Lag-1 (CSL) in Drosophila or the mammalian homolog of CBF1, RBP-J kappa in mice, which is a transcriptional repressor. RPBJkappa is a Notch coactivator imperative for activating downstream targets of Notch (75). These repressors are converted to transcriptional activators via binding of the NICD. The protein complex recruits transcriptional coactivators to induce gene expression of Hairy-Enhancer of Split proteins (HES) and HES Related Family BHLH Transcription Factor With YRPW (HEY) genes, which inhibits *MyoD* expression (82). The expression of HES and HEY transcription factors and the inhibition of MyoD results in the blockage of myogenesis and differentiation, primarily via HEY1 in C2C12 myoblast cell cultures (83). It should be noted that evidence has been shown that Notch is able to inhibit myoblast differentiation during development via CSL independent pathways but further investigations in Notch signaling post-exercise are warranted (8).

2.4.4 Downstream Signaling of Notch

Notch activation induces the expression of the HES genes, a family of transcriptional repressors. HES genes have a bHLH domain, which is imperative to DNA binding and dimerization, and an Orange domain that is involved in the selection of bHLH heterodimer partner. This allows for the HES repressors to inhibit differentiation and maintain progenitor cells via both active and passive repression (84). It is unclear if HES genes are involved in satellite cell proliferation. However, in the absence of HES1 and HES5, Notch is unable to inhibit neurogenesis in the nervous system in mice (85), therefore indicating that the downstream factors of Notch are necessary for function. This process of inactivation of differentiation is essential for embryogenesis, neurogenesis and myogenesis to allow for the maintenance of stem cell and satellite cell pools.

2.4.5 Notch PEST Domain

After the induction of the NICD to the nucleus and transcription of HES genes occurs, the NICD becomes degraded. The NICD has a short half-life due to the phosphorylation of the PEST domain located at the C-terminus. A PEST domain is a portion of the protein that is rich in proline, gluatime acid, serine and threonine-rich regions, and has been shown to be involved in protein turnover signaling (86). In healthy tissue, the phosphorylation of the PEST domain causes ubiquitination and subsequently proteasome dependent degradation. Interestingly, upon the removal of the PEST domain in T-cells, impaired degradation of NICD follows and in some cases leads to acute lymphoblastic leukemia (87). Also, mutations in the PEST domain region of Notch1 half been shown to increase the half-life of the NICD and increase cellular proliferation and oncogenesis (76), indicating the importance of the regulation of the PEST domain of the NICD. Upon deletion or inactivation of the PEST domain from Notch, there is a reduced repressive capacity for β -catenin, which will be discussed later on (81). This illustrates the importance of the PEST domain in the functional capacity of Notch. Figure 2 illustrates the current pathway of Notch activation and transcription signaling.



Figure 2: The core Notch signaling pathway is mediated by regulated proteolysis and extracellular signaling pathways. Notch is cleaved from the intracellular membrane and translocates to the nucleus to increase satellite cell proliferation and inhibit differentiation. Illustration from Figure 1 of Kopan & Ilagan (64).

2.5 Numb and Numb-Like

2.5.1 Numb and Numb-Like Inhibition of Notch

Numb and the Numb homolog, Numb-Like which shares 76% homology (88), interact with Notch proteins to determine cellular fates. *Numb* encodes for four protein isoforms produced via splicing of two exons (Ex3 and Ex9), while *Numb-Like* only has one, that are involved in the determination of cellular fates by participating in protein ubiquitination (89-91). Ubiquitination is the process of tagging a protein with ubiquitin, a small regulator protein, to mark it primarily for degradation, but also translocation, activation, or promote interactions. Specifically Numb and Numb-Like inhibit Notch signaling in one daughter cell via inhibition of the nuclear translocation of the Notch and cotransactivator suppressor of hairless (Su(H)) in *Drosophila* or recombining binding protein suppressor of hairless (RBP-J kappa), the mammalian homolog (92, 93). Notch binds to RBP-J kappa at the RBP-J kappa associated module (RAM) domain, which is a crucial portion of the NICD that interacts with RPB-J. The RAM domain is necessary for the ability of Notch to interact with β-catenin (81).

Due to the conservation of amino acids at the amino-terminal of *Drosophila* and mammalian Numb in conjunction with in vitro studies, the N-terminus directly interacts with the NICD (5). Indicating that the N-terminus is an essential component of a functional Numb protein. Numb is activated by the binding at the N-terminus with the Acyl-CoA Binding Domain Containing 3 (ACBD3) in *Drosophila* neuronal cells (mammalian homolog: Golgi resident protein GCP60). ACBD3 is synthesized in the Golgi Apparatus and is released during mitosis and then binds to other protein targets of Numb to form a protein complex. This portion of the Numb complex is the antagonist to Notch and inhibits the lateral signaling between cells (94). Recent evidence has also suggested that in HeLa cell lines the interaction between the Numb in conjunction with the ACBD3 complex, associates with the RAM and PEST domains of the NICD to stabilize the NICD and not degrade it (5, 95). This discrepancy between Numb positively or negatively regulating the NICD could be due to the tissue being utilized in each study, therefore indicating that Numb's role may be tissue dependent. However, further research is needed in order to determine the role of Numb and Numb-Like in other tissues. Figure 3 below illustrates the pathway of Notch inhibition via Numb activation:



Figure 3: The Notch signaling pathway and the role of Numb inhibition on downstream gene expression of HES mRNA. Numb interacts with NICD and degrades it to inhibit proliferation and increase differentiation. Illustration is from Figure 2 of Shimojo et al. (7).

A secondary hypothesis for Notch inhibition is that Numb decreases the quantity of Notch receptors in the membrane via endocytosis. The C-terminus of Numb and Numb-Like interact with the EH-binding domain, necessary for protein-protein interactions, of epidermal growth factor receptor substrate 15 (Eps15), a protein involved in the endocytosis of epidermal growth factors (96). Since structure of a protein determines the function, the EH domains potentially explain one of the hypothesized mechanisms of inhibiting Notch via receptor mediated endocytosis. A third hypothesis states, Numb potentially inhibits the interaction between Notch and its ligands. This can occur in two different methods, the first is via endocytosis of the Notch receptor and the second is that Numb can bind to the intracellular portion of Notch and alter the binding properties to

decrease affinity for its ligand. Therefore, Notch is unable to bind with its ligands. A fourth hypothesis for Notch inhibition via Numb is the *Numb* mRNA inhibits Notch transcription meaning that *Numb* is acting as RNA interference (RNAi) (97). These hypotheses are currently under investigation and have primarily been conducted in *Drosophila* neuronal and sensory organ precursor cells.

2.5.2 Numb: PTB Domain and PRR Region

Numb protein contains a phosphotyrosine-binding domain (PTB) domain (92) for protein scaffolding and a C-terminal proline rich domain (PRR, containing putative Src homology 3 binding sites) (13). Numb proteins also contain acid-prline-phenylalanine (DPF) and asparagineproline-phenylalanine (NPF) motifs, which are essential for binding to AP-2 complex (responsible for clathrine mediated endocytosis) and EH domain containing proteins necessary for the regulation of endocytosis (98), at the carboxyl-terminus for regulation of endocytosis for proteinprotein interactions (95). Alternative splicing of Numb mRNA at allows for the formation of the different isoforms of Numb. The four isoforms of Numb contain differing lengths of PTB domains and PRR regions. The PTB (exon3) and PRR (exon9) regions can be denoted as long or short, depending upon the length of the amino acids in the particular regions. The Numb isoforms can be a combination of the two regions producing four isoforms: p72 (Numb+exon3+exon9), $p71(Numb\Delta exon3 + exon9), p66 (Numb+ exon3\Delta exon9) and p65(Numb\Delta exon3\Delta exon9) (99, 100).$ The p72 and p71 isoforms are primarily expressed in progenitor tissues where the p66 and p65 isoforms are expressed in adult tissues (91, 100). Overexpression of the p72/p71 isoforms has been shown to increase proliferation while the overexpression of p66/65 isoforms promote differentiation in neuronal cell lines (100). The expression of different isoforms could be a key factor in understanding why some evidence indicates that Numb antagonize Notch signaling to promote proliferation and while others indicate that Numb does not affect Notch signaling and promotes differentiation. For example, in cancer cells containing the p72/p71 isoforms, there was increased notch signaling (101) and the p66/p65 isoforms decreased Notch target gene expression (102). The greater inclusion of Exon9 are corresponding to increased proliferation in cancer cells (100).

The PTB regions have been shown to have several different functions involving calcium release, reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and apoptotic signals. The isoforms expressing the short PTB domains have been shown to have greater amounts of calcium in the cells in comparison to the cells with the long PTB domains. However, the short PTB domain has been shown to make PC12 Cells more susceptible to calcium imbalances and susceptible to amyloid β-peptide, a key membrane protein, induced apoptosis (103). Therefore, Numb may regulate calcium release from the endoplasmic reticulum with the short PTB domain increasing calcium release to a greater extent in comparison to the long PTB domain to promote differentiation of neuronal cells. The longer PTB domains however, had increased production of mitochondrial ROS production in comparison to the short PTB domain (99). Lastly, the Numb isoforms with short PTB domains are more codependent upon tropic factors for survival in PC12 cells, which are pheocharmocytoma cancer cells, in basil conditions (6). These data indicate that the length of the PTB domain has

The PTD domain Numb targets LNX a RING finger, E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase responsible for ubiquitination of Numb isoform p66 and p72, which difference by 11 amino acids inserted into the PTD domain, but not p71 and p65. The PTB domain of Numb interacts with the first PDZ domain 1 (PDZ1) of LNX at amino acids ¹⁸³LDNPAY¹⁸⁸ between the PDZ1 and the RING finger (88) to ubiquitinate Numb and cause degradation. The deletion of PDZ1 of LNX results in the loss of ubiquitination of Numb and therefore no degradation of Numb occurs (104). A single point mutation of Y188A resulted in the no interaction between Numb and LNX therefore inhibiting the interactions between the proteins (88). Therefore, the regulation of certain isoforms of Numb is dependent upon functional PDZ1 domain and PTB domain interactions. Some evidence suggested that the PTB domain required tyrosine phosphorylation for the binding of Numb to LNX (105). However, Dho et al., (1999) demonstrated that tyrosine phosphorylation is required only under specific conditions (88). This evidence also demonstrates that the Numb PTD domain way have diverse binding abilities adding to the complexity of Numb protein interactions.

The PRR region is a 48 amino acid region that's functions as a SH3-binding domain, in which the SH3 proteins regulate the cytoskeleton, RAS protein, and Src Kinases in conjunction with many others. Verdi et al. (1999) demonstrated that the varying lengths of PRR regions are responsible for the function of Numb. The mammalian Numb isoforms with longer PRR regions cause cellular proliferation while the shorter PRR isoforms promote differentiation during neurogenesis in *Dropshila* (6). Therefore, the Numb isoform present may alter the cellular outcome in skeletal muscle. However, at this time it is unclear which Numb isoforms are present and functional in human skeletal muscle. It should be noted that Verdi at al. (1999) hypothesized that the different

isoforms of Numb could potentially interact with the different isoforms of mammalian Notch (6), but this has not been conducted in humans.

2.5.3 Numb Isoforms and Numb-Like Interaction

Numb and Numb-Like have the ability to interact with themselves. Numb-Like interacts with Numb isoform p65 and p71 via the PTB domain and proline rich region. While Numb p65 also interacted with itself preferentially with the same isoform via its PTB domain, indicating that Numb may interact as a heterodimer or homodimer with Numb-Like (106). This additionally, the p72 isoform has the capacity to antagonize the p65 isoform and increase Notch target gene expression (102), HEY1 and HEY2. This was also correlated with an increase in the MAPK/ERK signaling (100). It should be noted that p72 expression alone does not increase downstream transcriptional targets of Notch in cancer cells (100). The ability of the four isoforms of Numb, Numb-Like and Notch to bind and regulate one another adds to the complexity of satellite cell regulation. Therefore, the ratio of which each of these isoforms are present within the cell should be taken into consideration. Also, the ability of these proteins to from complexes may alter their regulator role in skeletal muscle. Table 1 indicates the interactions possible between the different isoforms of Numb and they regulation of Notch.

Table 1: The table indicates which isoform of numb contains a PTB and PRR region. Also, the table indicates if the isoform is able to interact with other isoforms of Numb and the effect on Notch expression.

Numb Isoform	Exon3 (PTB)	Exon9 (PRR)	Interaction	Influence on Notch Expression
p72	Yes	Yes	p65	↑Notch
			p66	↓Notch
p71	No	Yes	NA	↑Notch
p66	Yes	No	p72	↓Notch
p65	No	No	p65	↓Notch
			p72	↑Notch

2.5.4 Notch, Numb and Numb-Like

While, the majority of research has been conducted in neuronal cells and several different animal models, Numb and Numb-Like have been limitedly investigated in human subjects, namely skeletal muscle. The mechanism of Numb inhibition of Notch is semi-conserved across cell types and species (63). This is imperative for the understanding of current body of research. For example, in chickens Numb modulates neurogenesis by binding to Notch1 in a similar manner as discussed earlier and induces proliferation and suppresses differentiation (107). In mouse neuronal and skeletal muscle cells, Numb has been shown to antagonize Notch signaling to determine cellular fates (9, 11, 83, 97). In mouse skeletal muscle, Numb positive cells enter into cell differentiation, while Numb negative cells do not differentiate becoming satellite cells and maintaining clonogenicity (11), potentially through the inhibition of Notch signaling. Lastly, the Numb and Notch signaling pathway has been shown to be conserved in humans (10) as well, which will be discussed later.

2.5.5 Notch, Numb, and Numb-Like: Redundancy

The conserved pathway of inhibition of Notch via Numb allows for asymmetrical division, where there are decreases in Notch signaling in one daughter cell and the other daughter cell can go through myogenic differentiation (97, 108). Asymmetrical division maintains the satellite cell pool at a constant capacity while still permitting differentiation. Numb also interacts with the E3 ubiquitin ligase, Itch, to down-regulate Notch1 receptors by degrading the NICD (90), effectively decreasing satellite cell proliferation and increasing differentiation. In addition, high levels of Notch, specifically the NICD, can potentially cause a decrease in Numb and Numb-Like indicating that these proteins have reciprocal negative regulation (109). However, there is controversial evidence that states Numb stabilizes the NICD1 at the post-transcriptional level via association with deubiquitinating enzymes in Hela Cell lines (95).

Satellite cells have the capability to divide asymmetrically and symmetrically. During symmetrical division, satellite cells produce two daughter cells that are similar to the paternal cell. During asymmetrical division, one cell is similar to the parent cell and a second cell different. In *Drosophila* neuronal precursor cells, Numb is asymmetrically divided to the daughter cells while Numb-Like is symmetrically distributed (4). Interestingly, when loss of Numb occurred, the cells failed to divide asymmetrically. However, the expression of Numb-Like produces two daughter cells with similar results as Numb, causing asymmetrically division, therefore adding to the redundancy of these two homologs. It should be noted that this was only seen in neocortex of *Drosophila* (4). For example, mice that contain knockouts of *Numb* and *Numb-Like* phenotypes have more sever impairments of neurogenesis than knockouts of *Numb* or *Numb-Like*, independently (110). Within cells that undergo cellular division such as satellite cells or neuronal
cells, Numb is asymmetrically localized to one pole of the daughter cells. This induces distinctive fates for each daughter cell.

In myocardial cell, the loss of Numb and Numb/Numb-Like, via troponin T-Cre meditated knockouts, causes ventricular noncompaction, which is an increase in the thickness and spongy appearance of the left ventricular wall. The Numb/Numb-Like knockouts presented a greater phenotypic severity of ventricular noncompaction in comparison to the Numb knockouts (106). This result is consistent with a previous study conducted by Yang et al. (2012) in that double knockouts promote a more severity lethality in embryonic mice. However, conversely to previous studies, in mouse myocardial cells, NICD1 did not increase in Numb/Numb-Like double knockouts during proliferations (106). Therefore, Numb and Numb-Like's negative regulation of NICD1 may be redundant, tissue specific or other levels transcriptional regulation may be primary.

2.5.6 Notch, Numb, and Numb-Like: Independence

In contrast, evidence has shown that Numb and Numb-Like have distinctive functions. For example, Numb is expressed in most tissues while Numb-Like is primarily expressed in nervous system. In addition, Numb is a membrane associated protein, but Numb-Like is a cytoplasmic protein in mice neuronal cells (4). As previously stated, Numb and Numb-Like are both negative regulators of Notch, but the results of negatively regulating Notch are dissimilar. For example, in an embryonic stem cell lines, Numb expression inhibits Sonic Hedgehog and Notch while inducing p53 (12, 111). Numb is required to prevent p53-dependent cessation of cellular division (112). However, Numb-Like expression does not alter p53 levels and induces Sonic Hedgehog signaling

(12). Sonic Hedgehog has a regulatory role in differentiation, specifically the expression of several families of growth factors (113). Another example of the independent functions of Numb and Numb-Like can be observed in mouse myocardial cells. Myocardial cells that underwent Cremediated deletion of Numb died at day 11.5 during embryotic life. Deletion of Numb-Like did not cause lethality but did induce low fertility in females. Double deletion of Numb and Numb-Like caused increased lethality and the embryos died at day 9 of embryotic life, thus suggesting a redundancy of Numb and Numb-Like (114). Lastly, in three cancer cell lines: cervix Hela, breast T47D and sarcoma AX, down regulation of Numb-Like is sufficient to increase NICD translocation to the nucleus and active the Notch signaling pathway (115). These data indicate that Numb and Numb-Like may have redundant and independent functions.

2.5.7 Animal Models

In adult mice that underwent CRE-mediated knockouts of Numb and then muscle damage via BaCl₂ injury, there was an upregulation of Myostatin, decreased number of satellite cells and impaired myofiber repair. Due to decreased Numb expression in satellite cells this also leads to decreased proliferation. Inversely, when a Myostatin specific siRNA was introduced into the cell cultures, satellite cell proliferation was salvaged. In cells that contained overexpression of Numb, Myostatin was down regulated and Notch was unaffected, potentially indicating that Notch is not the primary target of Numb in cells undergoing proliferation. Lastly, the loss of Numb-Like did not affect the function of skeletal muscle in mice and therefore was hypothesized not to have a significant role in muscle repair (108). These data indicate that Myostatin and Numb work inversely without affecting Notch signaling.

This is in partial agreement with previous research indicating that Numb is the primary regulator of proliferation and not the homolog Numb-Like. However, this research is dissimilar in that the authors hypothesize that Myostatin is the inhibitor of Numb, and Numb does not alter Notch levels. In aging skeletal muscle there is an upregulation of Myostatin and decreased expression Numb, suggesting that these proteins have a key regulatory role in sarcopenia and age related muscle loss (10). The balance of Myostatin, Notch, Numb and potentially Numb-Like are integral for healthy skeletal muscle growth and repair. Therefore, any disturbance in expression patterns could potentially alter skeletal muscle performance, satellite cell proliferation and differentiation.

In mice that underwent spinal denervation, NICD and HEY1 expression increased leading to Notch signaling increases in skeletal muscle 7 to 56 days, after denervation. In addition, satellite cell numbers increased significantly during denervation. Interestingly, in mice that underwent denervation and anabolic steroid supplementation (Nandrolone), NICD and HEY1 expression was reduced. This was potentially due to increases Numb RNA and protein levels, which indicates that Numb might be androgen responsive in skeletal muscle (116). This study concluded that the alterations made in Notch, Numb and HEY1 did not affect the degree to which denervation muscle atrophy occurs. In resemblance to the previous study, adult males, age 60-75 years old, were treated with monthly injections of a GnRH agonist (Lupron depot, 7.5 mg) to suppress endogenous testosterone production while simultaneously receiving weekly testosterone (25, 50, 125, 300 or 600 mgs) via intramuscular injections. The participants had significant, dose dependent increases in muscle cross-sectional area and increases in satellite cells positive for proliferating antigens. Additionally, there was an increase in Notch expression in satellite cells with no differences in Numb protein after 20 weeks of treatment. The investigation of Notch and Numb was only

conducted in the 300 mg injection group. These data, in conjunction with previous studies, indicate that human skeletal muscle may react differently when undergoing neurological muscle atrophy compared to pharmacological interventions (117). Thus, the method of muscle damage may alter the expression levels of Notch, Numb, Numb-Like and their downstream factors. Further research is warranted in order to understand muscle damage methodologies and Numb and Notch responses.

2.5.8 Human Models

Most studies involving Numb, Numb-Like and Notch have been conducted in animal and cell culture models. Only one study investigating the responses of Numb and Notch to exercise has been conducted in human skeletal muscle to my knowledge. This study conducted by Carey et al. (2007) utilized older and younger men who underwent 12-weeks of resistance training. Skeletal muscle biopsies were taken pre-12-week training, prior to and two hours after an acute exercise bout (3 sets of 12 repetitions of maximal knee extension on a Cybex Norm dynamometer with two minutes of rest between sets) and post-12 week training, prior to and two hours after an acute exercise bout. Carey et al. also investigated human primary skeletal muscle cell cultures to induce differentiation and synthesize a timeline of the expression of Notch and Numb. Notch mRNA expression significantly increased at 24-, 48- and 72-hours post differentiation and peaked at 48hours post-differentiation in myoblast cells obtained from the vastus lateralis young healthy individuals. There was no alteration in the levels of Numb mRNA in cell culture. If the study had been carried out past 72-hours there may be poetical alterations in Numb mRNA expression. However, future research is needed in order to determine if Numb expression occurs past three days. These findings indicated that these genes played a significant role in myoblast differentiation and proliferation in human skeletal muscle.

At rest, prior to training older males had significantly less *Notch1* mRNA expression compared to younger males. After an acute bout of exercise, prior to training, there was a non-significant decrease in *Numb* mRNA two hours post-exercise in both groups. In addition, *Numb* expression was decreased in both older males and younger males compared to pre-training, indicating a significant main training effect. There was also a main effect for age, the older group had decreased Numb expression in comparison to the younger group. After the 12-week training program, older males had significant increases in *Notch1* mRNA expression from baseline measures taken prior to training. *Notch1* mRNA also increased after a single bout of exercise after 12 weeks of training. Interestingly, after training the older group had a significant decrease in Numb mRNA compared to the younger group. There was no difference in Numb mRNA expression two hours after an acute bout of exercise. These findings indicate that age and training status have the capacity to alter the expression of Notch and Numb potentially altering satellite cell proliferation and differentiation. Interestingly, the authors also indicate that this phenomenon is a hypothesized mechanism of impaired regenerative capacity of aging skeletal muscle (10).

The role of Numb during myogenesis has yet to be fully elucidated. However, there is evidence to suggest that Numb and Numb-Like promote satellite cell differentiation and decrease proliferation by inhibiting Notch signaling. During decreased or the absence of Numb and Numb-Like, Notch increases satellite cells proliferation and increase the satellite cell pool. Therefore, Numb is involved in the balancing of muscle cell proliferation and differentiation. Previous research indicates that Numb may have different roles of regulation during different strategies of

myogenesis. However, further research is needed to understand the exact interaction between Numb and Notch and how these proteins are affected after exercise.

2.6 Protein Interactions and Regulators of Notch, Numb and Numb-Like

Although the scope of this review is to illuminate the function and interaction of Notch, Numb and Numb-Like, it is important to understand potential regulators of these genes. This allows for increased understanding of skeletal muscle in response to exercise and potentially other environmental signals.

2.6.1 Sirt1

Notch, Numb and Numb-Like are intricately regulated and are affected by other regulatory mechanisms. Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) is a NAD-dependent deacetylase that has the capacity to regulate protein function and epigenetic control of gene expression via the removal of acetyl groups (118). Guarani et al., (2011) found that in endothelial cells, SIRT1 deacetylates the NICD thus destabilizing the protein and promoting proteasomal degradation. When SIRT1 is deactivated via siRNA, Notch activity was not altered but the sensitivity to Notch signaling increased, measured via increases in downstream gene expression. Interestingly, during siRNA mediated knockout of SIRT1, there was decreased the levels of ubiquitin tagged NICD indicating that acetylation may interfere with the ability of the NICD to be degraded (119). This could potentially alter the function of Numb/Numb-Like complexes to bind and ubiquitinylate the NICD. However, this has yet to be investigated.

2.6.2 microRNAs

Numb inhibition occurs by the recruitment of microRNA-146a (miRNA-146a), a class of noncoding RNAs that has a fundamental role in negatively regulating posttranscriptional gene expression (120). This particular miRNA is believed to be regulated by transcriptional activator NFkappaB, which is released from the Golgi organ during cellular division. NFkappaB is stimulated during cellular stretching and inflammatory states (120, 121), which is associated with exercise. During cyclic stretching of mouse C2C12 cells via BioFlex plates, miRNA-146a gene expression increased. miRNA-146a was also found to be bound to the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of *Numb*, preventing translation and reducing satellite cell differentiation. Therefore, miRNA-146a may alter the expression and activation of cellular process associated with satellite cell proliferation and differentiation.

2.6.3 Itch

Itch (mouse homolog of Su(dx)) proteins have been shown to ubiquitinate Notch1 proteins, however the consequences of the ubiquitination are not yet known. It is hypothesized that increases in Itch increase the ability to bring the Notch receptors toward lysosomal degradation (122). Increased expression of either *Numb* or *Itch* has been shown to increase the ubiquitination of Notch1. When both *Numb* and *Itch* are expressed in conjunction, there is a greater ubiquitination of Notch1 suggesting a cooperation between Numb and Itch proteins (90). It should be noted that this study was conducted in *Drosophila* (fruit flies). However, this pathway is relatively conserved across *Drosophila*, mice, and human models.

2.6.4 Ligand of Numb Protein X

An additional regulator of Numb is ligand of Numb-Protein X (LNX). LNX contains an amino terminal RING finger, a zinc-binding cysteine rich sequence motif found in an abundance of proteins (123), and four PDZ domains. A PDZ domain is a string of 80-90 amino acids involved in anchoring receptor proteins to the membranes. LNX is hypothesized to ubiquitinate and degrade Numb therefore lowing the levels of Numb which increases Notch signaling. The PTB domain of Numb and only the first PDZ domain of LNX are required for Numb ubquitlylation and subsequently increasing Notch signaling (124).

2.6.5 MyoD

MyoD is a regulator of myoblast regulation and muscle development. MyoD, in the presence of nandrolone (an anabolic steroid), has been shown to form protein complexes with Numb CHIP in addition to androgen receptors. In addition to MyoD binding to Numb, Numb was shown to bind to bind to the promoter at the E-box of Myosin Heavy Chain 7 (MyH7) gene, where MyoD binds, indicating there may be some potential regulatory role of Numb (125).

2.6.6 MDM2 and P53

MDM2 (HDM2) is an oncogenic that gene encodes for a nuclear localized E3 ubiquitin ligase. This protein targets proteins such as p53 for proteasomal degradation therefore promoting tumor production. In addition to binding to p53, MDM2 can also bind to Numb forming a trimeric complex (126). P53 is a transcription factor that acts as a tumor suppressor and has been implicated in mitochondrial biogenesis and apoptosis in skeletal muscle (127). Numb binds to p53 and MDM2 to form a trimeric complex in epithelial cells which increases the stability of p53 preventing ubiquitination thus prolonging the half-life of the protein. Utilizing short harpin and short interfering RNA for Numb, effectively reducing Numb protein 80-90%, the half-life of p53 was decreased from ~ 60 minutes to ~ 20 minutes. In addition the quantity of p53 decreased two-fold. This effect was only seen in Numb and no effect for Numb-Like knockouts on the levels of p53 were seen. Conversely, during overexpression of Numb the half-life of p53 increased from ~60 minutes to ~120 minutes and increased transcriptional activity of p53 (126). However, it is unclear if Numb's protective function stems from the interaction between MDM2 or p53, therefore more research is warranted. It has also been shown that activated Notch stabilizes p53 in vitro via HEY1 binding to a *MDM2* enhancer box therefore decreasing transcription (75). Colaluca et al. (2008) found that Notch did not participate in the regulation of p53 via Numb mechanisms (126) indicating that p53 regulation can occur in a Notch-dependent and -independent manner. Interestingly, in isolated satellite cells of aged skeletal muscle there was a decreased Notch signaling, increased MDM2 and decreased p53 (75). In the absence of p53 via MDM2 inhibition, abnormal spindle assembly can occur and cause mitotic catastrophe and cellular death of satellite cells. Mitotic catastrophe occurs when proper mitosis fails to produce viable progeny and is typically used in cancer research. It typically occurs during anaphase and the cell does not survive long after. Interestingly in satellite cells from older mice, pharmacological activation of p53 via Nutlin-3, which inhibits the interaction between p53 and MDM2, decreased cell death via mitotic catastrophe and the proliferation of satellite cells indicating p53 activity was able to restore the youthfulness of satellite cells in older skeletal muscle (75). These studies indicate that p53 regulation occurs via a complex interaction among Numb, Notch, HES and HEY proteins and genes.

2.6.7 Wnt

Wnt proteins are a family of 21 glycoproitens that are potent regulators of satellite cells. The role of Wnt proteins in skeletal muscle regeneration after injury is controversial. However, evidence suggests that Wnt is highly involved in the self-renewal regulation of satellite cells. In particular, Wnt is involved in inducing myogenesis via satellite cells during muscle regeneration, while it has also been shown to suppress myogenesis and induce fibrosis in aging skeletal muscle (128, 129). These data determine that more research is needed in order to understand Wnt signaling in satellite cells in response to muscle damage.

Otto et al. (2008) demonstrated that Wnt signaling, in isolated muscle fibers, is activate during proliferation of satellite cells in conjunction with activated- β -catenin (Act- β -Cat), a downstream transcriptional coactivator. In particular Wnt1, Wnt3a and Wnt5a overexpression induced satellite cell proliferation, where as Wnt4 and Wnt6 hindered proliferation (130), indicating that only certain Wnt proteins are involved in satellite cell regulation. It should be noted that Wnt1, Wnt3a and Wnt5a as well as Wnt4 and Wnt6 caused the induction of Act- β -Cat, however the canonical wnt signaling pathway of Wnt1, Wnt3a, and Wnt5a induced the translocation of Act- β -Cat, allowing it to act as a transcriptional activator (130). Brack et al., (2007) found that induction of Wnt3a in young mouse skeletal muscle, resulted in increased myogenic to fibrogenic conversion in vitro thus increasing the deposition of connective tissue deposition in skeletal muscle. This was also supported via in vivo injection of Wnt3a one day post injury which resulted in connective tissue deposition (128). Wnt4 and Wnt6 cause Act- β -Cat to from a dimer and interact with

cadherins and α -catenin which localizes in the cellular membrane and not the nucleus. MyoD expression occurs prior to Act- β -Cat translocation to the nucleus therefore, it was concluded that satellite cell activation was Act- β -Cat independent, but proliferation is dependent upon the canonical Wnt signaling pathway (130).

In young and aged mice that underwent steady-state activation of Wnt signaling, there was an upregulation of Axin2, which plays a role in stabilizing β -Catenin in uninjured muscle. Furthermore, in purified satellite cells, aged cells had more expression of Axin2 in comparison to younger muscle indicating that there was an increase in Wnt signaling during ageing. Also during Wnt activation, active glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3 β) decreased and Act- β -Cat increased. Also in contrast to Otto et al., (2008), expression of Wnt3a expression in younger muscle resulted in a phenotype similar to aging skeletal muscle and reduced cellular proliferation in vivo. Upon the induction of Dickkopf-1 (DKK1), a Wnt inhibitor, no alterations were observed in the young muscle (128). Therefore, these results indicate that increased Wnt signaling results in the progression of myogenic to fibrogenic phenotype in skeletal muscle. However, other research has shown that Wnt signaling is essential for the progression of myogenic lineage during development (131), therefore indicating that Wnt may have specific roles during myogenesis.

2.6.8 β-catenin

Notch has been shown to post-translationally regulate β -catenin in progenitor cells. Specifically, Notch reduces levels of β -catenin in cardiac progenitor cells, therefore limiting cellular proliferation. During Notch1 knockdown models, dephosphorylated β -catenin levels increased, which is the transcriptionally active form of β -catenin protein, without decreasing the total amount of protein or amino-terminal phosphorylated Ser-37. Interestingly, during implementation of siRNA of Notch1-4, there was a mild increase of β -catenin activation, indicating that Notch 1 is the predominating Notch receptor in embryonic stem cells (81). The overexpression of the Notch1 intracellular domain (N1ICD) in particular decreases overall and active levels of β -catenin but does not modulate the level of mRNA present in embryonic stem cells (81). These data indicate that Notch1 may potentially antagonistically regulate β -catenin phosphorylation in stem cells. However, to the research has been conducted on the role of Notch1 and β -catenin in skeletal muscle, therefore the outcome of Notch on β -catenin phosphorylation in muscle unknown.

Kwon et al. (2011) demonstrated that Numb and Notch together have the capacity to regulate β catenin activity. Numb and Numb-Like bind to the β -catenin-Notch complex and traffic the complex to the lysosome for degradation. Kwon et al. observed that Numb was found to coimmunoprecipitated in conjunction with membrane bound Notch. In Numb and Numb-Like knockdown embryonic stem cells, membrane bound Notch was unable to repress β -catenin activity. Interestingly in Numb knockdown cells (via siRNAs), Numb-Like did have the capacity to bind to membrane bound notch and decrease active β -catenin protein levels (81). This another redundant function of Numb and Numb-Like indicating that both have the capacity to alter gene transcription. Lastly, Kown et al. investigated the effects of ibuprofen on these signaling pathways. Ibuprofen lowered the levels of active β -catenin via the notch RBP-J kappa luciferase activity in SW480 cancer cells. Therefore indicating that ibuprofen decreases the activity of the Notch signaling pathway and potentially contribute to the shielding effects of NSAIDS on induction of cancer cells (81).

2.6.9 Bone Morphogenetic Protein

Notch has been shown to interact with bone morphogenetic protein (BPM) to inhibit myogenic differentiation in C2C12 cells. BMP is a part of the transforming growth factor beta superfamily of ligands that inhibits differentiation independently of Notch signaling in satellite cells (132, 133). During BMP4 induced differentiation of C2C12 cells induced upregulation of both *HES1* and *HEY1* expression and increases in *HEY1* in satellite cells, which are downstream factors of canonical Notch signaling. This occurs due to BMP4 signaling situating mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 1 (SMAD1), a signal transducer and transcriptional modulator, which can activate the *HEY1* promoter. SMAD1 then binds to the promoter in a NICD dependent manner to induce the transcription of the target gene (132). Therefore, the potential cross talk between these two signaling pathways may further inhibit differentiation in myoblasts and satellite cells altering skeletal muscle repair.

2.6.10 Other interactions and regulators

Several inflammatory cytokines, myokines, growth factors and other gene pathways are suggested to have a critical role in the regulation of satellite cells function, proliferation and differentiation in response to exercise. However, it cannot be ruled out that other pathways are responsible for the proliferation and differentiation of satellite cells in human skeletal muscles. These genes in particular have key regulator roles in muscle damage, growth and repair. Therefore, the expression of these genes could potentially interact with Numb and Notch proteins to alter satellite cell proliferation and differentiation. Therefore, if given the opportunity these genes should be analyzed in conjunction with Numb and Notch genes and gene products.

2.8 Conclusion

Notch, Numb and Numb-Like as well as the potential modulators may have potential a role in skeletal muscle cell damage, repair and growth. The pathways involved are closely regulated in association with satellite cells. Previous research investigating the physiological pathway of Notch, Numb, and Numb-Like has been conducted in *Drosophila* and mouse models with limited research conducted studies in humans. To the researcher's knowledge there are limited studies that investigate the role of these genes and gene products after an acute bout of eccentric exercise. Also, the localization and interactions of the gene products has yet to be investigated in human skeletal muscle. The potential for these genes to mediate satellite cell activity could potentially lead to better understand of the physiologic mechanisms driving muscle adaptions to exercise, muscle damage and muscle atrophy.

Chapter III: Methods

3.1 Study design

This study utilized a randomized, counter balanced study design. Initially, 12 male subjects were randomly assigned to one of two groups: a control group that did not participate in any exercise (n = 6, age: 24 ± 4 years, height: 181.2 ± 5.8 cm, weight: 84.57 ± 12.92 kg, BMI: 25.67 ± 3.06) or an exercise group (n = 6, age: 21 ± 3 , height: 177.8 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.8 kg, BMI: 23.81 ± 6.2 cm, weight: 76.13 ± 6.2 cm, w 3.06, 1RM: 99 ± 7 kg). Due to the acceptance of a grant provided by the Central States Chapter of the American College of Sports Medicine (CSACSM), an additional seven subjects were added to the damage group. Additionally, one damage and one control subject were removed due to being statistical outliers (control group: n = 5, age: 23 ± 4 years, height: 180.3 ± 6.1 cm, weight: 84.5 ± 100 14.5 kg BMI: 25.86 \pm 3.38, and damage group: n = 12, age: 27 \pm 6 years, height: 180.0 \pm 6.8 cm, weight: 84.07 ± 8.80 kg, BMI: 27.08 ± 6.01 1RM: 107 ± 12 kg). Subjects were recruited from the University of Kansas and the surrounding area. The following inclusion and exclusion criteria were used to determine the subjects' eligibility for this study: Inclusion: These criteria includes being a healthy male, between the ages of 18-40, non-smoking, and free of metabolic or cardiovascular diseases. Exclusion: Exclusion criteria included unhealed fractures, thrombophlebitis (blood clots), any foot or ankle surgeries within the past 6 months, any hip or knee surgeries within the past year, recent uncontrolled bruising, recent muscle, bone or joint damage, osteomyelitis (acute or chronic bone infection), or myositis ossificans (hardened scarring in muscle tissue of the thigh). Subjects freely and willing signed an informed consent approved by The University of Kansas's Institutional Review Board. The participants freely and willingly signed an Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved informed consent document before participation and the research study abided by the Declaration of Helsinki (134).

3.2 Diet and Exercise Control Restrictions

Subjects were asked to maintain their current diet and refrain from alcohol, dietary supplements of any kind, and exercise during the course of the study. In addition, subjects were asked to refrain from over counter, non-steroidal, anti-inflammatory drugs (eg. Advil, Tylenol, Aspirin, or generic ibuprofen) due to their potential to alter the expression of genes and proteins under investigation.

3.3 One Repetition Maximum and Exercise Protocol

The one repetition maximum (1RM) protocol for leg extension (Universal Power Circuit, Leg Extension Model: EN11306/09132) consisted of an initial warmup of ten repetitions at a self-selected resistance performing. After one minute of rest the resistance was increased, and the participants were asked to complete six to eight repetitions. After two minutes of rest, the resistance was increased, and the subjects were asked to complete four to six repetitions. After three minutes of rest, participants completed two to three repetitions at a near maximal load. Single repetition maximum attempts were completed with increasing resistance, no more that 5-10% of previous resistance, until failure with three minutes of rest in-between sets. Immediately following the 1RM participants completed seven sets of ten repetitions of eccentric leg extension at 120% of 1RM with a two-minute rest period between sets. The lever arm of the knee extension machine was raised for each repetition and the subject lowered the lever arm at a controlled descent for approximately two to four seconds.

3.4 Muscle Biopsies

Three muscle biopsies of the *vastus lateralis* were performed via percutaneous needle biopsy technique with the aid of suction (135) Pre-, Day 2, and Day 5. Again, with the acceptance of the CSACSM grant and IRB approval of the modified protocol, a 3-Hour post-muscle damage time point was added with the additional seven subjects. The initial biopsy was performed on a randomized leg approximately 12 cm proximal to the patella from the *vastus lateralis*. The subsequent biopsy was taken from the alternate leg in previously mentioned manner. The third biopsy was taken two centimeters proximal to the initial biopsy incision site on the first leg. The samples were immediately cleared of excess blood and connective tissue and a portion of each sample was placed in RNA later solution (Ambion, Grand Island, NY). Another portion was flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and subsequently stored at -80°C for later analysis.

3.5 Gene Expression

Muscle biopsy samples were analyzed for the gene expression for Numb, Numb-Like and Notch1 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Approximately 21.4 ± 3.6 mg of skeletal muscle was homogenized using an electric homogenizer (Fischer Scientific, Waltham, MA) in 600 ul of Trizol Reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). The RNA was further cleaned using a RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). The RNA was reverse transcribed to cDNA via a High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcriptase Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) per manufacturer protocol to produce cDNA. The cDNA served as a template to run the RT-qPCR (Rotor-Gene, Qiagen, Valencia, CA) fusing TaqMan real-time PCR assays (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) for Numb, Numb-Like and Notch as well as a housekeeping gene: Beta-2-microglobuin (B2M) (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA), which has demonstrated stability in response to exercise.

Parameters were set at one hold 50 °C for two minutes, then a cycle at 95 °C for five minutes, then 40 cycles at 95 °C for 15 seconds and 60 °C for 60 seconds. Analysis was completed with the corresponding software using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ model with the housekeeping gene (136). Gene expression was measured 3-Hour (control: n = 0, and experimental: n = 7) and Day 2 (control: n = 5, and experimental: n = 12) and Day 5 post-muscle damage (control: n = 5 and experimental: n = 12) for Numb, Numb-Like and Notch and normalized to the geometric mean of the stable reference genes and the pre-damage (control: n = 5 and experimental: n = 12) condition for each participant.

3.6 Protein Analysis

Muscle samples (15.2 ± 1.8 mg) were homogenized via tissue grind tube (Kimble Kontes LLC, Vineland, NJ) and lysed via TPERS (Fischer Scientific, Waltham, MA). A Bicinchoninic Acid Protein Assay (Pierce, Rockford, IL) was used to determine protein concentrations for each sample per manufacturer protocol. Approximately 3.88 ± 1.4 µL of protein were loaded into 12% acrylamide gels with a buffer solution and separated based on size of proteins via SDS-PAGE (Mini Protean 3, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). The proteins were transferred to a polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (Thermo Fischer Scientific, Waltham, MA) via electrophoresis (Mini Protean 3, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). After blocking overnight in 5% milk solution (Carnation Instant Powder, Nestle, Arlington, VA) in a solution containing a primary antibody specific for Numb (dilution: 1:1000, Cell Signaling Technology, Inc., Beverly, MA), Numb-Like (dilution: 1:1000, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Dallas, TX) and Notch1 (dilution: 1:1000, eBioscienceTM, San Diego, CA) independently, the membranes were washed and incubated in secondary IgG antibodies anti-mouse (dilution: 1:2000, Cell Signaling Technology, Inc., Beverly, MA), anti-rabbit (dilution: 1:2000, Cell Signaling Technology, Inc.,

Beverly, MA) or (anti-goat dilution: 1:5000, Enzo Life Sciences, Plattsmouth Meeting, PA) respectively. Following more washes, the membranes were incubated with enhanced horseradish peroxidase chemiluminescent substrate (GE Healthcare Bio-sciences Corp., Piscataway, NJ) for five minutes. Finally, the membranes were imaged using a digital camera imaging system (FluorChem SP, Protein Simple, Santa Clara, CA) and Western blots were quantified using AlphaView software (Protein Simple, Santa Clara, CA). Protein expression was measured Pre-(control: n = 5, and experimental: n = 12), 3-Hours (control: n = 0, and experimental: n = 7) and Day 2 (control: n = 5, and experimental: n = 12) and Day 5 post-muscle damage (control: n = 5 and experimental: n = 12) for Numb and Numb-Like. Notch protein analysis utilized an n = 3 for the control group due to COVID-19 interruption of data analysis and upon reopening of The University of Campus, two additional subjects will be analyzed.

3.7 Statistical Analysis

The muscle biopsy samples were analyzed to determine the gene expression of Notch, Numb and Numb-Like mRNA using RT-qPCR, and the protein products were analyzed using Western blotting and immunohistochemistry staining. Due to the addition of seven subjects to the damage group and the 3-hour post-damage time point, the results were analyzed using two separate analyses. The first being a 2X3 (Group X Time) Two-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA for Pre, Day 2 and Day 5 time points with the exclusion of the 3-Hour post damage time point. The second being a One-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA with only the experimental group at Pre, 3-Hour Day 2, and Day 5 post-muscle damage. If significance was detected, a Fisher protected LSD post-hoc analysis was performed to detect where differences occurred. The significance level was set

at p < 0.05. All data was analyzed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences software (SPSS 25.0) (Chicago, IL) and reported as mean \pm SE.

Chapter IV: Results

Due to the additional grant funding awarded later in the project timeline, there were no samples collected for the control group at three hours post-muscle damage.

4.1 Notch1

The Two-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA revealed no significant differences in mRNA expression were observed for *Notch1* between groups at Day 2 (p = 0.56). However, there was a significant increase in *Notch1* at Day 5 between the damage group (1.91 ± 1.29 fold change) and the control group (0.52 ± 0.38 fold change) from baseline measures (p = 0.04, Figure 4A). There were no significant differences detected in the Notch1 protein between groups (Pre = 0.17, Day 2 p = 0.77, and Day 5 p = 0.66, Figure 4B). Additionally, there was no significant differences in mRNA (3-Hour p = 0.84, Day 2 p = 0.28, and Day 5 p = 0.20, Figure 4A) or protein (3-Hour p = 0.82, Day 2 p = 0.87, and Day 5 p = 0.30, Figure 4B) expression from baseline when the One-Way Repeated Measure ANOVA was utilized.



Figure 4: Notch mRNA (A) and protein (B) expression, * p < 0.05 and X = no data obtained. Notch mRNA expression is significantly greater at Day 2 in the damage group compared to the control group from baseline measures. Data are mean \pm SE.

4.2 Numb

The Two-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA revealed no significant differences in *Numb* mRNA expression between groups Day 2 and Day 5 from baseline measures (p = 0.74 and p = 0.13,

respectively, Figure 5A). There were no significant differences detected in the Numb protein between groups (Pre = 0.21, Day 2 p = 0.75, and Day 5 p = 0.55, Figure 5B). Additionally, there was no significant differences in *Numb* mRNA (3-Hour p = 0.22, Day 2 p = 0.89, and Day 5 p = 0.15, Figure 5A) or protein (3-Hour p = 0.68, Day 2 p = 0.78, and Day 5 p = 0.24, Figure 5B) expression from baseline when the One-Way Repeated Measure ANOVA was utilized.



Figure 5: Numb mRNA (A) and protein (B) expression, * p < 0.05 and X = no data obtained. Data are mean \pm SE.

4.3 Numb-Like

The Two-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA revealed no significant differences in *Numb-Like* mRNA expression between groups Day 2 and Day 5 from baseline measures (p = 0.60 and p = 0.23, respectively, Figure 6B). There were no significant differences detected in the Numb-Like protein between groups (Pre = 0.81, Day 2 p = 0.68, and Day 5 p = 0.87, Figure 6B). Additionally, there was no significant differences in *Numb-Like* mRNA (3-Hour p = 0.63, Day 2 p = 0.30, and Day 5 p = 0.77, Figure 6B) or protein (3-Hour p = 0.52, Day 2 p = 0.75, and Day 5 p = 0.61, Figure 6B) expression from baseline when the One-Way Repeated Measure ANOVA was utilized.



Figure 6: Numb-Like mRNA (A) and protein (B) expression, * p < 0.05 and X = no data obtained. Data are mean \pm SE.

Chapter V: Discussion

The roles of Notch, Numb and Numb-Like as potential regulators of satellite cell proliferation and differentiation in human skeletal muscle are poorly understood. Eccentric exercise can induce muscle damage, altering the activity of satellite cells (137) and the expression of Notch, Numb and Numb-Like. Only one study has investigated the responses of Numb and Notch to an acute bout of resistance exercise (10). However, no studies have determined the responses of Notch, Numb and Numb-Like to an acute bout of eccentric resistance exercise. Thus, we aimed to determine the responses of Notch, Numb and Numb-Like to eccentric-exercise induced muscle damage.

Our results demonstrate a significant increase in Notch1 mRNA at Day 5 post-muscle damage between the exercise group (1.91 \pm 0.37 fold change) and the control group (0.52 \pm 0.17 fold change) from baseline measures. These findings are in congruence with Carey et al. (2007), which demonstrated a significant increase in Notch3 mRNA expression over the course of a 72-hour differentiation time course, peaking at 48-hours, in human primary skeletal muscle cell cultures from the vastus lateralis of young, healthy males. Thus, indicating Notch may have a potential role in satellite cell differentiation, which is a contradiction to previous research in animal models and neuronal tissues (138-140). However, in vivo, there were no significant differences in Notch1 mRNA expression after 3 sets of 12, maximal single leg extension (10). The lack of change in the control group indicates the differences observed were a result of the exercise intervention and not the repeated percutaneous needle biopsies. Collectively, these data suggest that Notch1 mRNA expression occurred later in the muscle repair process, indicating Notch1 may have a role in satellite cell differentiation. There are several possibilities that could explain the contradictory evidence. The constitutive expression and repression of genes may result in deviations from physiological norms, therefore altering the regulator role of genes and proteins in question (141).

This theory could also explain the differing results seen in cell culture and in vivo. Cui and colleagues (2019) demonstrated that Notch1 expression is upregulated five days after upstream stimulation, and *Notch1* is vital for differentiation of Mesenchymal stem cells (67). Carey et al. suggested that the increase in *Notch3* expression seen in culture corresponds with an increase in myogenin expression, a marker of differentiation. Therefore, Notch expression may be low during the early stages of myogenesis and expressed later during differentiation of myoblasts (10). These data, in conjunction with previous research, indicate Notch may stimulate proliferation and differentiation in progenitor cells, depending on temporal regulation and levels of expression. Alternatively, the activation of Notch in the later stages of muscle growth could indicate a return to quiescence and inhibition of myogenesis. Bi and colleagues (2019) demonstrated that activation of Notch1, via stage-specific Cre alleles, in myocytes results in dedifferentiation to Pax-7 positive, quiescent satellite cells. This resulted in decreased muscle growth and resulted in postnatal lethality. However, Notch1 expression in myotubes improves muscle regeneration and increases exercise performance in age and diseased models (68). These data represent non-physiological states and therefore Notch signaling in vivo, in myofibers warrants further investigation.

Based on previous research it was hypothesized that Numb mRNA and protein would increase significantly post-muscle damage with little to no change in Numb-Like expression. This investigation utilized antibodies that bound to all four isoforms of Numb, and contrary to this hypothesis, the main findings were that there were no significant changes in Numb or Numb-Like expression. The exact effect of Numb and Numb-Like's ability to repair muscle is unknown. However, our data suggests that Numb-Like is expressed to a greater degree compared to all four isoforms of Numb at two days post-muscle damage $(1.05 \pm 0.13 \text{ and } 1.76 \pm 0.91 \text{ fold changes}$,

respectively). Thus, Numb-Like may constitute a greater role in muscle repair and satellite cell regulation in response to exercise-induced muscle damage. These data are dissimilar to previous investigations performed in muscle damage in rodents. George et al. (2013) determined that abolition via genetic deletion of Numb, not Numb-Like, resulted in significant decreases in regenerating myofiber size after the induction of muscle damage via barium chloride injections. Similarly, the Numb deficient satellite cells had decrease proliferation capacity, while Numb-Like deficient satellite cells in a decreases in proliferation (108). These data indicated that Numb was the primary regulator of satellite cells and muscle regeneration after injury.

The dissimilarity between results may stem from Numb and Numb-Like having redundant functions, in part due to analogous structure (4). For example, mice that contain knockouts of either *Numb* or *Numb-Like* have less severe impairments of neurogenesis compared to mice that had knockouts of both *Numb* and *Numb-Like*. Therefore, it was concluded that Numb and Numb-Like function in conjunction with one another (110, 112). Interestingly, low levels of Numb have the capacity to salvage Numb and Numb-Like double null mutants during embryogenesis in mice, suggesting small quantities of Numb protein are necessary for function (15). However, it is possible that Numb-Like can salvage the myogenic or embryogenesis pathways in human skeletal muscle in the absence of Numb signaling due to redundancy. Although these homologs have redundant functions, they also have independent functions. During proliferation, satellite cells undergo symmetric or asymmetric division. This balance is critical for satellite cell and skeletal muscle maintenance and homeostasis. During symmetrical division, one daughter cell maintains self-renewal while the other cell progresses through differentiation (25, 26). Numb is asymmetrically

divided to the daughter cells while Numb-Like is symmetrically distributed in *Drosophila* neuronal precursor cells (4). When Numb fails to divide asymmetrically, it produces two daughter cells with the fate determined via Numb-Like asymmetrical division, therefore adding to the redundancy of these two homologs. It should be noted that this was only seen in neocortex of *Drosophila* (4). Evidence has shown that Numb and Numb-Like have distinctive, yet redundant functions and further investigation is necessary to determine the functionality of Numb and Numb-Like.

The differences in the current results compared to previous investigations could be due to utilization of cell cultures compared to muscle homogenate, training status, timing of sample collections and age. Notch, Numb and Numb-Like are expressed across multiple tissues (4, 89, 95, 138). However, in skeletal muscle the primary expression of these proteins and genes are in satellite cells and immature muscle cells (26, 74, 128, 142). To the researcher's knowledge, there is little to no evidence that suggests the expression of Notch, Numb, and Numb-Like in myofibers. This study utilized skeletal muscle homogenate and therefore the changes in expression are most likely due to alterations within the satellite cells, myoblasts, or myocytes. Carey et al. (2007), observed a significant decrease in aging skeletal muscle compared to young muscle and a significant increase in *Notch* and *Numb* mRNA after 12-weeks of resistance training. Resistance training stimulates an increase in the number and activity of satellite cells and myonuclei (143).Therefore, tissue preparation, training status and age may alter satellite cell quantity and activity modifying Notch, Numb and Numb-Like expression (10, 144).

In addition to Notch, Numb and Numb-Like, other satellite cell regulators such as Pax-7, MyoD, FOXO1, Wnt, Myostatin and Myogenin are in flux after a bout of muscle injury (47, 49, 57, 142, 145, 146). These proteins, in addition to others, could regulate satellite cell activity and meditate the Notch, Numb and Numb-Like pathway. Inflammatory markers such as Interleukin-6 and hepatocyte growth factor also induce satellite cell quiescence and reduce proliferation of satellite cells. Therefore, it cannot be excluded that other mechanisms could potentially regulate satellite cell proliferation and differentiation in response to exercise-induced muscle damage (22). Figure 3 represents the hypothesized timeline of gene expression of Numb, Numb-Like, and Notch in conjunction with other known regulators of satellite cells.



Figure 4: The hypothesized timeline of current satellite cell regulators (solid lines) and the proposed satellite cell regulators (dashed lines). Notch (Black), Numb and Numb-Like (Green), Pax-7(Red), MyoD (Blue) and Myogenin (Purple).

In conclusion, the current data indicates that Numb and Numb-Like expression in humans are unaltered post-muscle damage, while Notch mRNA expression is increased five days after muscle damage. The temporal regulation and expression of Notch1, at five days post-muscle damage, may reinforce the concept that Notch may regulate satellite cell differentiation in human skeletal muscle after an acute bout of exercise, in addition to proliferation. Fujimaki et al. (2019), indicates that Notch1 and Notch2 are structurally similar and participate symmetrical division. Correspondingly, activation Notch1 Notch2and may prevent differentiation and induce renewal of the satellite cell pool (17). Prior evidence indicates that as early as four days after an acute bout of resistance exercise, satellite cell number increases (37). However, further research is needed to determine if Notch is participating in proliferation or differentiation of satellite cells after exercise. The multiple isoforms of Numb and homogeneity of Numb and Numb-Like add to the potential redundancy of function and difficulty of investigation. However, the results of this study indicate the potential different roles of Numb and Numb-Like. Differences seen among studies can be attributed to timing of muscle sample collections, population utilized, an increase in sample size and greater muscle damage protocols. These variables increase the difficulty of understanding the physiological mechanisms of Notch, Numb and Numb-Like. Further research is needed in order to understand the mechanism of Notch, Numb and Numb-Like in human skeletal muscle postexercise induced muscle damage as regulators of satellite cell markers of proliferation and differentiation. This could potentially lead to better understanding of satellite cell proliferation and differentiation in skeletal muscle and adaptations to exercise.

References

1. Clarkson PM, Hubal MJ. Exercise-induced muscle damage in humans. American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation [Internet]. 2002;81(11):S52-69.

2. Darr KC, Schultz E. Exercise-induced satellite cell activation in growing and mature skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol (1985) [Internet]. 1987 Nov;63(5):1816-21.

3. Yin H, Price F, Rudnicki MA. Satellite cells and the muscle stem cell niche. Physiol Rev [Internet]. 2013;93(1):23-67.

4. Zhong W, Jiang MM, Weinmaster G, Jan LY, Jan YN. Differential expression of mammalian numb, numblike and Notch1 suggests distinct roles during mouse cortical neurogenesis. Development [Internet]. 1997 May;124(10):1887-97.

5. Guo M, Jan LY, Jan YN. Control of daughter cell fates during asymmetric division: Interaction of numb and notch. Neuron [Internet]. 1996;17(1):27-41.

6. Verdi JM, Bashirullah A, Goldhawk DE, Kubu CJ, Jamali M, Meakin SO, Lipshitz HD. Distinct human NUMB isoforms regulate differentiation vs. proliferation in the neuronal lineage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 1999 Aug 31;96(18):10472-6.

7. Shimojo H, Ohtsuka T, Kageyama R. Dynamic expression of notch signaling genes in neural stem/progenitor cells. Frontiers in neuroscience [Internet]. 2011;5:78.

8. Shawber C, Nofziger D, Hsieh JJ, Lindsell C, Bogler O, Hayward D, Weinmaster G. Notch signaling inhibits muscle cell differentiation through a CBF1-independent pathway. Development [Internet]. 1996 Dec;122(12):3765-73.

9. Spana EP, Doe CQ. Numb antagonizes notch signaling to specify sibling neuron cell fates. Neuron [Internet]. 1996;17(1):21-6.

10. Carey KA, Farnfield MM, Tarquinio SD, Cameron-Smith D. Impaired expression of notch signaling genes in aged human skeletal muscle. The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences [Internet]. 2007;62(1):9-17.

11. Conboy IM, Rando TA. The regulation of notch signaling controls satellite cell activation and cell fate determination in postnatal myogenesis. Developmental cell [Internet]. 2002;3(3):397-409.

12. Liu L, Lanner F, Lendahl U, Das D. Numblike and numb differentially affect p53 and sonic hedgehog signaling. Biochem Biophys Res Commun [Internet]. 2011;413(3):426-31.

13. Gulino A, Di Marcotullio L, Screpanti I. The multiple functions of numb. Exp Cell Res [Internet]. 2010;316(6):900-6.
14. Lu B, Rothenberg M, Jan LY, Jan YN. Partner of numb colocalizes with numb during mitosis and directs numb asymmetric localization in drosophila neural and muscle progenitors. Cell [Internet]. 1998;95(2):225-35.

15. Petersen PH, Tang H, Zou K, Zhong W. The enigma of the numb-notch relationship during mammalian embryogenesis. Dev Neurosci [Internet]. 2006;28(1-2):156-68.

16. Tong X, Zitserman D, Serebriiskii I, Andrake M, Dunbrack R, Roegiers F. Numb independently antagonizes sanpodo membrane targeting and notch signaling in drosophila sensory organ precursor cells. Mol Biol Cell [Internet]. 2010;21(5):802-10.

17. Fujimaki S, Seko D, Kitajima Y, Yoshioka K, Tsuchiya Y, Masuda S, Ono Y. Notch1 and Notch2 coordinately regulate stem cell function in the quiescent and activated states of muscle satellite cells. Stem Cells [Internet]. 2018;36(2):278-85.

18. Seale P, Sabourin LA, Girgis-Gabardo A, Mansouri A, Gruss P, Rudnicki MA. Pax7 is required for the specification of myogenic satellite cells. Cell [Internet]. 2000;102(6):777-86.

19. Le Grand F, Rudnicki MA. Skeletal muscle satellite cells and adult myogenesis. Curr Opin Cell Biol [Internet]. 2007;19(6):628-33.

20. MAURO A. Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. J Biophys Biochem Cytol [Internet]. 1961 Feb;9:493-5.

21. Murphy MM, Lawson JA, Mathew SJ, Hutcheson DA, Kardon G. Satellite cells, connective tissue fibroblasts and their interactions are crucial for muscle regeneration. Development [Internet]. 2011 Sep;138(17):3625-37.

22. Snijders T, Nederveen JP, McKay BR, Joanisse S, Verdijk LB, van Loon LJ, Parise G. Satellite cells in human skeletal muscle plasticity. Frontiers in physiology [Internet]. 2015;6:283.

23. Dell'Orso S, Juan AH, Ko KD, Naz F, Perovanovic J, Gutierrez-Cruz G, Feng X, Sartorelli V. Single cell analysis of adult mouse skeletal muscle stem cells in homeostatic and regenerative conditions. Development [Internet]. 2019 Apr 11;146(12):10.1242/dev.174177.

24. Sambasivan R, Yao R, Kissenpfennig A, Van Wittenberghe L, Paldi A, Gayraud-Morel B, Guenou H, Malissen B, Tajbakhsh S, Galy A. Pax7-expressing satellite cells are indispensable for adult skeletal muscle regeneration. Development [Internet]. 2011 Sep;138(17):3647-56.

25. Shinin V, Gayraud-Morel B, Gomès D, Tajbakhsh S. Asymmetric division and cosegregation of template DNA strands in adult muscle satellite cells. Nat Cell Biol [Internet]. 2006;8(7):677.

26. Conboy MJ, Karasov AO, Rando TA. High incidence of non-random template strand segregation and asymmetric fate determination in dividing stem cells and their progeny. PLoS biology [Internet]. 2007;5(5):e102.

27. Cairns J. Mutation selection and the natural history of cancer. Nature [Internet]. 1975;255(5505):197-200.

28. McKay BR, Toth KG, Tarnopolsky MA, Parise G. Satellite cell number and cell cycle kinetics in response to acute myotrauma in humans: Immunohistochemistry versus flow cytometry. J Physiol (Lond) [Internet]. 2010;588(17):3307-20.

29. McKay BR, Ogborn DI, Bellamy LM, Tarnopolsky MA, Parise G. Myostatin is associated with age-related human muscle stem cell dysfunction. The FASEB Journal [Internet]. 2012;26(6):2509-21.

30. Abou-Khalil R, Brack AS. Muscle stem cells and reversible quiescence: The role of sprouty. Cell Cycle [Internet]. 2010;9(13):2575-80.

31. Wei X, Li H, Yang J, Hao D, Dong D, Huang Y, Lan X, Plath M, Lei C, Lin F. Circular RNA profiling reveals an abundant circLMO7 that regulates myoblasts differentiation and survival by sponging miR-378a-3p. Cell death & disease [Internet]. 2017;8(10):e3153-.

32. Schultz E. Satellite cell proliferative compartments in growing skeletal muscles. Dev Biol [Internet]. 1996;175(1):84-94.

33. Asakura A, Rudnicki MA, Komaki M. Muscle satellite cells are multipotential stem cells that exhibit myogenic, osteogenic, and adipogenic differentiation. Differentiation [Internet]. 2001;68(4-5):245-53.

34. Halevy O, Piestun Y, Allouh MZ, Rosser BW, Rinkevich Y, Reshef R, Rozenboim I, Wleklinski- Lee M, Yablonka- Reuveni Z. Pattern of Pax7 expression during myogenesis in the posthatch chicken establishes a model for satellite cell differentiation and renewal. Developmental dynamics: an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists [Internet]. 2004;231(3):489-502.

35. Shefer G, Van de Mark, Daniel P, Richardson JB, Yablonka-Reuveni Z. Satellite-cell pool size does matter: Defining the myogenic potency of aging skeletal muscle. Dev Biol [Internet]. 2006;294(1):50-66.

36. Gibson MC, Schultz E. The distribution of satellite cells and their relationship to specific fiber types in soleus and extensor digitorum longus muscles. Anat Rec [Internet]. 1982;202(3):329-37.

37. Mackey AL, Kjaer M, Charifi N, Henriksson J, Bojsen- Moller J, Holm L, Kadi F. Assessment of satellite cell number and activity status in human skeletal muscle biopsies. Muscle & Nerve: Official Journal of the American Association of Electrodiagnostic Medicine [Internet]. 2009;40(3):455-65.

38. Christov C, Chrétien F, Abou-Khalil R, Bassez G, Vallet G, Authier F, Bassaglia Y, Shinin V, Tajbakhsh S, Chazaud B. Muscle satellite cells and endothelial cells: Close neighbors and privileged partners. Mol Biol Cell [Internet]. 2007;18(4):1397-409.

39. Allouh MZ, Yablonka-Reuveni Z, Rosser BW. Pax7 reveals a greater frequency and concentration of satellite cells at the ends of growing skeletal muscle fibers. Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry [Internet]. 2008;56(1):77-87.

40. Kelly AM. Perisynaptic satellite cells in the developing and mature rat soleus muscle. Anat Rec [Internet]. 1978;190(4):891-903.

41. Cermak NM, Snijders T, McKay BR, Parise G, Verdijk LB, Tarnopolsky MA, Gibala MJ, Van Loon LJ. Eccentric exercise increases satellite cell content in type II muscle fibers. Med Sci Sports Exerc [Internet]. 2013 Feb;45(2):230-7.

42. Crameri RM, Langberg H, Magnusson P, Jensen CH, Schrøder HD, Olesen JL, Suetta C, Teisner B, Kjaer M. Changes in satellite cells in human skeletal muscle after a single bout of high intensity exercise. J Physiol (Lond) [Internet]. 2004;558(1):333-40.

43. Smith C, Janney M, Allen R. Temporal expression of myogenic regulatory genes during activation, proliferation, and differentiation of rat skeletal muscle satellite cells. J Cell Physiol [Internet]. 1994;159(2):379-85.

44. ALLBROOK D. An electron microscopic study of regenerating skeletal muscle. J Anat [Internet]. 1962 Apr;96:137-52.

45. Shafiq S, Gorycki M. Regeneration in skeletal muscle of mouse: Some electron-microscope observations. J Pathol [Internet]. 1965;90(1):123-7.

46. Olguin HC, Olwin BB. Pax-7 up-regulation inhibits myogenesis and cell cycle progression in satellite cells: A potential mechanism for self-renewal. Dev Biol [Internet]. 2004;275(2):375-88.

47. Wen Y, Bi P, Liu W, Asakura A, Keller C, Kuang S. Constitutive notch activation upregulates Pax7 and promotes the self-renewal of skeletal muscle satellite cells. Mol Cell Biol [Internet]. 2012 Jun;32(12):2300-11.

48. Kadi F, Charifi N, Denis C, Lexell J, Andersen JL, Schjerling P, Olsen S, Kjaer M. The behaviour of satellite cells in response to exercise: What have we learned from human studies? Pflügers Archiv [Internet]. 2005;451(2):319-27.

49. Chargé SB, Brack AS, Bayol SA, Hughes SM. MyoD-and nerve-dependent maintenance of MyoD expression in mature muscle fibres acts through the DRR/PRR element. BMC developmental biology [Internet]. 2008;8(1):5.

50. Weintraub H, Davis R, Tapscott S, Thayer M, Krause M, Benezra R, Blackwell TK, Turner D, Rupp R, Hollenberg S. The myoD gene family: Nodal point during specification of the muscle cell lineage. Science [Internet]. 1991 Feb 15;251(4995):761-6.

51. Megeney LA, Kablar B, Garrett K, Anderson JE, Rudnicki MA. MyoD is required for myogenic stem cell function in adult skeletal muscle. Genes Dev [Internet]. 1996 May 15;10(10):1173-83.

52. Kopan R, Nye JS, Weintraub H. The intracellular domain of mouse notch: A constitutively activated repressor of myogenesis directed at the basic helix-loop-helix region of MyoD. Development [Internet]. 1994 Sep;120(9):2385-96.

53. Sasai Y, Kageyama R, Tagawa Y, Shigemoto R, Nakanishi S. Two mammalian helix-loophelix factors structurally related to drosophila hairy and enhancer of split. Genes Dev [Internet]. 1992 Dec;6(12B):2620-34.

54. Sun J, Kamei CN, Layne MD, Jain MK, Liao JK, Lee ME, Chin MT. Regulation of myogenic terminal differentiation by the hairy-related transcription factor CHF2. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2001 May 25;276(21):18591-6.

55. Gayraud-Morel B, Chrétien F, Flamant P, Gomès D, Zammit PS, Tajbakhsh S. A role for the myogenic determination gene Myf5 in adult regenerative myogenesis. Dev Biol [Internet]. 2007;312(1):13-28.

56. Snijders T, Verdijk LB, Beelen M, McKay BR, Parise G, Kadi F, van Loon LJ. A single bout of exercise activates skeletal muscle satellite cells during subsequent overnight recovery. Exp Physiol [Internet]. 2012;97(6):762-73.

57. Knapp JR, Davie JK, Myer A, Meadows E, Olson EN, Klein WH. Loss of myogenin in postnatal life leads to normal skeletal muscle but reduced body size. Development [Internet]. 2006 Feb;133(4):601-10.

58. Wang YX, Rudnicki MA. Satellite cells, the engines of muscle repair. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology [Internet]. 2012;13(2):127.

59. Lee SJ, McPherron AC. Regulation of myostatin activity and muscle growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2001 Jul 31;98(16):9306-11.

60. Latres E, Pangilinan J, Miloscio L, Bauerlein R, Na E, Potocky TB, Huang Y, Eckersdorff M, Rafique A, Mastaitis J. Myostatin blockade with a fully human monoclonal antibody induces muscle hypertrophy and reverses muscle atrophy in young and aged mice. Skeletal muscle [Internet]. 2015;5(1):34.

61. McCroskery S, Thomas M, Maxwell L, Sharma M, Kambadur R. Myostatin negatively regulates satellite cell activation and self-renewal. J Cell Biol [Internet]. 2003 Sep 15;162(6):1135-47.

62. Goodhew, PJ, Humphreys, J. Electron microscopy and analysis. [Internet]. CRC Press; 2000

63. Artavanis-Tsakonas S, Matsuno K, Fortini ME. Notch signaling. Science [Internet]. 1995 Apr 14;268(5208):225-32.

64. Kopan R, Ilagan MXG. The canonical notch signaling pathway: Unfolding the activation mechanism. Cell [Internet]. 2009;137(2):216-33.

65. Luo D, Renault VM, Rando TA. The regulation of Notch signaling in muscle stem cell activation and postnatal myogenesis. In: Seminars in cell & developmental biology [Internet]; 2005Elsevier; 2005. p. 612-22.

66. Kumar R, Juillerat-Jeanneret L, Golshayan D. Notch antagonists: Potential modulators of cancer and inflammatory diseases. J Med Chem [Internet]. 2016;59(17):7719-37.

67. Cui J, Zhang W, Huang E, Wang J, Liao J, Li R, Yu X, Zhao C, Zeng Z, Shu Y. BMP9induced osteoblastic differentiation requires functional notch signaling in mesenchymal stem cells. Laboratory Investigation [Internet]. 2019;99(1):58-71.

68. Bi P, Yue F, Sato Y, Wirbisky S, Liu W, Shan T, Wen Y, Zhou D, Freeman J, Kuang S. Stage-specific effects of notch activation during skeletal myogenesis. Elife [Internet]. 2016;5:e17355.

69. Shimizu K, Chiba S, Hosoya N, Kumano K, Saito T, Kurokawa M, Kanda Y, Hamada Y, Hirai H. Binding of Delta1, Jagged1, and Jagged2 to Notch2 rapidly induces cleavage, nuclear translocation, and hyperphosphorylation of Notch2. Mol Cell Biol [Internet]. 2000 Sep;20(18):6913-22.

70. LaVoie MJ, Selkoe DJ. The notch ligands, jagged and delta, are sequentially processed by alpha-secretase and presenilin/gamma-secretase and release signaling fragments. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2003 Sep 5;278(36):34427-37.

71. Buas MF, Kadesch T. Regulation of skeletal myogenesis by notch. Exp Cell Res [Internet]. 2010;316(18):3028-33.

72. Andersen DC, Laborda J, Baladron V, Kassem M, Sheikh SP, Jensen CH. Dual role of deltalike 1 homolog (DLK1) in skeletal muscle development and adult muscle regeneration. Development [Internet]. 2013 Sep;140(18):3743-53.

73. Conboy IM, Rando TA. The regulation of notch signaling controls satellite cell activation and cell fate determination in postnatal myogenesis. Developmental cell [Internet]. 2002;3(3):397-409.

74. Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Smythe GM, Rando TA. Notch-mediated restoration of regenerative potential to aged muscle. Science [Internet]. 2003 Nov 28;302(5650):1575-7.

75. Liu L, Charville GW, Cheung TH, Yoo B, Santos PJ, Schroeder M, Rando TA. Impaired notch signaling leads to a decrease in p53 activity and mitotic catastrophe in aged muscle stem cells. Cell stem cell [Internet]. 2018;23(4):544,556. e4.

76. Wang K, Zhang Q, Li D, Ching K, Zhang C, Zheng X, Ozeck M, Shi S, Li X, Wang H, Rejto P, Christensen J, Olson P. PEST domain mutations in notch receptors comprise an oncogenic driver segment in triple-negative breast cancer sensitive to a gamma-secretase inhibitor. Clin Cancer Res [Internet]. 2015 Mar 15;21(6):1487-96.

77. Birkedal-Hansen H. Proteolytic remodeling of extracellular matrix. Curr Opin Cell Biol [Internet]. 1995;7(5):728-35.

78. Bani C, Lagrota-Candido J, Pinheiro DF, Leite PEC, Salimena MC, Henriques-Pons A, Quirico-Santos T. Pattern of metalloprotease activity and myofiber regeneration in skeletal muscles of mdx mice. Muscle & Nerve: Official Journal of the American Association of Electrodiagnostic Medicine [Internet]. 2008;37(5):583-92.

79. Berezovska O, Jack C, McLEAN P, Aster JC, Hicks C, Xia W, Wolfe MS, Weinmaster G, Selkoe DJ, Hyman BT. Rapid Notch1 nuclear translocation after ligand binding depends on presenilin-associated γ -Secretase activity. Ann N Y Acad Sci [Internet]. 2000;920(1):223-6.

80. Karlstrom H, Bergman A, Lendahl U, Naslund J, Lundkvist J. A sensitive and quantitative assay for measuring cleavage of presenilin substrates. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2002 Mar 1;277(9):6763-6.

81. Kwon C, Cheng P, King IN, Andersen P, Shenje L, Nigam V, Srivastava D. Notch posttranslationally regulates β -catenin protein in stem and progenitor cells. Nat Cell Biol [Internet]. 2011;13(10):1244.

82. Sasai Y, Kageyama R, Tagawa Y, Shigemoto R, Nakanishi S. Two mammalian helix-loophelix factors structurally related to drosophila hairy and enhancer of split. Genes Dev [Internet]. 1992 Dec;6(12B):2620-34.

83. Buas MF, Kabak S, Kadesch T. Inhibition of myogenesis by notch: Evidence for multiple pathways. J Cell Physiol [Internet]. 2009;218(1):84-93.

84. Kageyama R, Ohtsuka T, Kobayashi T. The hes gene family: Repressors and oscillators that orchestrate embryogenesis. Development [Internet]. 2007 Apr;134(7):1243-51.

85. Ohtsuka T, Ishibashi M, Gradwohl G, Nakanishi S, Guillemot F, Kageyama R. Hes1 and Hes5 as notch effectors in mammalian neuronal differentiation. EMBO J [Internet]. 1999 Apr 15;18(8):2196-207.

86. Rogers S, Wells R, Rechsteiner M. Amino acid sequences common to rapidly degraded proteins: The PEST hypothesis. Science [Internet]. 1986 Oct 17;234(4774):364-8.

87. Aster JC, Blacklow SC, Pear WS. Notch signalling in t-cell lymphoblastic leukaemia/lymphoma and other haematological malignancies. J Pathol [Internet]. 2011;223(2):263-74.

88. Dho SE, Jacob S, Wolting CD, French MB, Rohrschneider LR, McGlade CJ. The mammalian numb phosphotyrosine-binding domain. characterization of binding specificity and identification of a novel PDZ domain-containing numb binding protein, LNX. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 1998 Apr 10;273(15):9179-87.

89. Dho SE, French MB, Woods SA, McGlade CJ. Characterization of four mammalian numb protein isoforms. identification of cytoplasmic and membrane-associated variants of the phosphotyrosine binding domain. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 1999 Nov 12;274(46):33097-104.

90. McGill MA, McGlade CJ. Mammalian numb proteins promote Notch1 receptor ubiquitination and degradation of the Notch1 intracellular domain. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2003 Jun 20;278(25):23196-203.

91. Verdi JM, Schmandt R, Bashirullah A, Jacob S, Salvino R, Craig CG, Program AE, Lipshitz HD, McGlade CJ. Mammalian NUMB is an evolutionarily conserved signaling adapter protein that specifies cell fate. Current Biology [Internet]. 1996;6(9):1134-45.

92. Frise E, Knoblich JA, Younger-Shepherd S, Jan LY, Jan YN. The drosophila numb protein inhibits signaling of the notch receptor during cell-cell interaction in sensory organ lineage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 1996 Oct 15;93(21):11925-32.

93. Schwanbeck R, Martini S, Bernoth K, Just U. The notch signaling pathway: Molecular basis of cell context dependency. Eur J Cell Biol [Internet]. 2011;90(6-7):572-81.

94. Zhou Y, Atkins JB, Rompani SB, Bancescu DL, Petersen PH, Tang H, Zou K, Stewart SB, Zhong W. The mammalian golgi regulates numb signaling in asymmetric cell division by releasing ACBD3 during mitosis. Cell [Internet]. 2007;129(1):163-78.

95. Luo Z, Mu L, Zheng Y, Shen W, Li J, Xu L, Zhong B, Liu Y, Zhou Y. NUMB enhances notch signaling by repressing ubiquitination of NOTCH intracellular domain. Journal of molecular cell biology [Internet]. 2019

96. Salcini AE, Confalonieri S, Doria M, Santolini E, Tassi E, Minenkova O, Cesareni G, Pelicci PG, Di Fiore PP. Binding specificity and in vivo targets of the EH domain, a novel proteinprotein interaction module. Genes Dev [Internet]. 1997 Sep 1;11(17):2239-49.

97. Couturier L, Vodovar N, Schweisguth F. Endocytosis by numb breaks notch symmetry at cytokinesis. Nat Cell Biol [Internet]. 2012;14(2):131.

98. Dho SE, Trejo J, Siderovski DP, McGlade CJ. Dynamic regulation of mammalian numb by G protein-coupled receptors and protein kinase C activation: Structural determinants of numb association with the cortical membrane. Mol Biol Cell [Internet]. 2006;17(9):4142-55.

99. Pedersen WA, Chan SL, Zhu H, Abdur-Rahman LA, Verdi JM, Mattson MP. Numb isoforms containing a short PTB domain promote neurotrophic factor-induced differentiation and neurotrophic factor withdrawal-induced death of PC12 cells. J Neurochem [Internet]. 2002;82(4):976-86.

100. Rajendran D, Zhang Y, Berry D, McGlade C. Regulation of numb isoform expression by activated ERK signaling. Oncogene [Internet]. 2016;35(39):5202-13.

101. Bechara EG, Sebestyén E, Bernardis I, Eyras E, Valcárcel J. RBM5, 6, and 10 differentially regulate NUMB alternative splicing to control cancer cell proliferation. Mol Cell [Internet]. 2013;52(5):720-33.

102. Misquitta-Ali CM, Cheng E, O'Hanlon D, Liu N, McGlade CJ, Tsao MS, Blencowe BJ. Global profiling and molecular characterization of alternative splicing events misregulated in lung cancer. Mol Cell Biol [Internet]. 2011 Jan;31(1):138-50.

103. Chan SL, Pedersen WA, Zhu H, Mattson MP. Numb modifies neuronal vulnerability to amyloid β -peptide in an isoform-specific manner by a mechanism involving altered calcium homeostasis. Neuromolecular medicine [Internet]. 2002;1(1):55-67.

104. Nie J, Li SS, McGlade CJ. A novel PTB-PDZ domain interaction mediates isoform-specific ubiquitylation of mammalian numb. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 2004 May 14;279(20):20807-15.

105. Yajnik V, Blaikie P, Bork P, Margolis B. Identification of residues within the SHC phosphotyrosine binding/phosphotyrosine interaction domain crucial for phosphopeptide interaction. J Biol Chem [Internet]. 1996 Jan 26;271(4):1813-6.

106. Hirai M, Arita Y, McGlade CJ, Lee K, Chen J, Evans SM. Adaptor proteins NUMB and NUMBL promote cell cycle withdrawal by targeting ERBB2 for degradation. J Clin Invest [Internet]. 2017;127(2):569-82.

107. Wakamatsu Y, Maynard TM, Jones SU, Weston JA. NUMB localizes in the basal cortex of mitotic avian neuroepithelial cells and modulates neuronal differentiation by binding to NOTCH-1. Neuron [Internet]. 1999;23(1):71-81.

108. George RM, Biressi S, Beres BJ, Rogers E, Mulia AK, Allen RE, Rawls A, Rando TA, Wilson-Rawls J. Numb-deficient satellite cells have regeneration and proliferation defects. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A [Internet]. 2013 Nov 12;110(46):18549-54.

109. Chapman G, Liu L, Sahlgren C, Dahlqvist C, Lendahl U. High levels of notch signaling down-regulate numb and numblike. J Cell Biol [Internet]. 2006 Nov 20;175(4):535-40.

110. Li H, Wang D, Shen Q, Schonemann MD, Gorski JA, Jones KR, Temple S, Jan LY, Jan YN. Inactivation of numb and numblike in embryonic dorsal forebrain impairs neurogenesis and disrupts cortical morphogenesis. Neuron [Internet]. 2003;40(6):1105-18.

111. Di Marcotullio L, Ferretti E, Greco A, De Smaele E, Po A, Sico MA, Alimandi M, Giannini G, Maroder M, Screpanti I. Numb is a suppressor of hedgehog signalling and targets Gli1 for itch-dependent ubiquitination. Nat Cell Biol [Internet]. 2006;8(12):1415.

112. Le Roux I, Konge J, Le Cam L, Flamant P, Tajbakhsh S. Numb is required to prevent p53dependent senescence following skeletal muscle injury. Nature communications [Internet]. 2015;6(1):1-11.

113. Borycki AG, Brunk B, Tajbakhsh S, Buckingham M, Chiang C, Emerson CP, Jr. Sonic hedgehog controls epaxial muscle determination through Myf5 activation. Development [Internet]. 1999 Sep;126(18):4053-63.

114. Yang J, Bücker S, Jungblut B, Böttger T, Cinnamon Y, Tchorz J, Müller M, Bettler B, Harvey R, Sun Q. Inhibition of Notch2 by numb/numblike controls myocardial compaction in the heart. Cardiovasc Res [Internet]. 2012;96(2):276-85.

115. Garcia-Heredia JM, Verdugo Sivianes EM, Lucena-Cacace A, Molina-Pinelo S, Carnero A. Numb-like (NumbL) downregulation increases tumorigenicity, cancer stem cell-like properties and resistance to chemotherapy. Oncotarget [Internet]. 2016 Sep 27;7(39):63611-28.

116. Liu X, Yao S, Qiao R, Levine AC, Kirschenbaum A, Pan J, Wu Y, Qin W, Bauman WA, Cardozo CP. Nandrolone reduces activation of notch signaling in denervated muscle associated with increased numb expression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun [Internet]. 2011;414(1):165-9.

117. Sinha-Hikim I, Cornford M, Gaytan H, Lee ML, Bhasin S. Effects of testosterone supplementation on skeletal muscle fiber hypertrophy and satellite cells in community-dwelling older men. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism [Internet]. 2006;91(8):3024-33.

118. Rahman S, Islam R. Mammalian Sirt1: Insights on its biological functions. Cell Communication and Signaling [Internet]. 2011;9(1):11.

119. Guarani V, Deflorian G, Franco CA, Krüger M, Phng L, Bentley K, Toussaint L, Dequiedt F, Mostoslavsky R, Schmidt MH. Acetylation-dependent regulation of endothelial notch signalling by the SIRT1 deacetylase. Nature [Internet]. 2011;473(7346):234.

120. Kuang W, Tan J, Duan Y, Duan J, Wang W, Jin F, Jin Z, Yuan X, Liu Y. Cyclic stretch induced miR-146a upregulation delays C2C12 myogenic differentiation through inhibition of numb. Biochem Biophys Res Commun [Internet]. 2009;378(2):259-63.

121. Taganov KD, Boldin MP, Chang K, Baltimore D. NF-κB-dependent induction of microRNA miR-146, an inhibitor targeted to signaling proteins of innate immune responses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences [Internet]. 2006;103(33):12481-6.

122. Nichols JT, Miyamoto A, Weinmaster G. Notch signaling–constantly on the move. Traffic [Internet]. 2007;8(8):959-69.

123. Nayak D, Sivaraman J. Structural basis for the indispensable role of a unique zinc finger motif in LNX2 ubiquitination. Oncotarget [Internet]. 2015 Oct 27;6(33):34342-57.

124. Nie J, McGill MA, Dermer M, Dho SE, Wolting CD, McGlade CJ. LNX functions as a RING type E3 ubiquitin ligase that targets the cell fate determinant numb for ubiquitindependent degradation. EMBO J [Internet]. 2002 Jan 15;21(1-2):93-102.

125. Liu X, De Gasperi R, Bauman WA, Cardozo CP. Nandrolone-induced nuclear accumulation of MyoD protein is mediated by numb, a notch inhibitor, in C2C12 myoblasts. Physiological reports [Internet]. 2018;6(1):e13520.

126. Colaluca IN, Tosoni D, Nuciforo P, Senic-Matuglia F, Galimberti V, Viale G, Pece S, Di Fiore PP. NUMB controls p53 tumour suppressor activity. Nature [Internet]. 2008;451(7174):76.

127. Saleem A, Adhihetty PJ, Hood DA. Role of p53 in mitochondrial biogenesis and apoptosis in skeletal muscle. Physiological genomics [Internet]. 2009;37(1):58-66.

128. Brack AS, Conboy MJ, Roy S, Lee M, Kuo CJ, Keller C, Rando TA. Increased wnt signaling during aging alters muscle stem cell fate and increases fibrosis. Science [Internet]. 2007 Aug 10;317(5839):807-10.

129. Polesskaya A, Seale P, Rudnicki MA. Wnt signaling induces the myogenic specification of resident CD45 adult stem cells during muscle regeneration. Cell [Internet]. 2003;113(7):841-52.

130. Otto A, Schmidt C, Luke G, Allen S, Valasek P, Muntoni F, Lawrence-Watt D, Patel K. Canonical wnt signalling induces satellite-cell proliferation during adult skeletal muscle regeneration. J Cell Sci [Internet]. 2008 Sep 1;121(Pt 17):2939-50.

131. Holowacz T, Zeng L, Lassar AB. Asymmetric localization of numb in the chick somite and the influence of myogenic signals. Developmental dynamics: an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists [Internet]. 2006;235(3):633-45.

132. Dahlqvist C, Blokzijl A, Chapman G, Falk A, Dannaeus K, Ibanez CF, Lendahl U. Functional notch signaling is required for BMP4-induced inhibition of myogenic differentiation. Development [Internet]. 2003 Dec;130(24):6089-99.

133. Wright VJ, Peng H, Usas A, Young B, Gearhart B, Cummins J, Huard J. BMP4-expressing muscle-derived stem cells differentiate into osteogenic lineage and improve bone healing in immunocompetent mice. Molecular Therapy [Internet]. 2002;6(2):169-78.

134. World Medical Association. World medical association declaration of helsinki. ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. Bull World Health Organ [Internet]. 2001;79(4):373-4.

135. Bergstrom J. Muscle electrolytes in man determined by neutron activation analysis on needle biopsy specimens. Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation (England) [Internet]. 1962;14(Suppl 68)

136. Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2< sup> $-\Delta\Delta$ CT method. Methods [Internet]. 2001;25(4):402-8.

137. Bazgir B, Fathi R, Rezazadeh Valojerdi M, Mozdziak P, Asgari A. Satellite cells contribution to exercise mediated muscle hypertrophy and repair. Cell J [Internet]. 2017 Winter;18(4):473-84.

138. Zhao L, Ben-Yair R, Burns CE, Burns CG. Endocardial notch signaling promotes cardiomyocyte proliferation in the regenerating zebrafish heart through wnt pathway antagonism. Cell reports [Internet]. 2019;26(3):546,554. e5.

139. Roese-Koerner B, Stappert L, Brüstle O. Notch/hes signaling and miR-9 engage in complex feedback interactions controlling neural progenitor cell proliferation and differentiation. Neurogenesis [Internet]. 2017;4(1):e1313647.

140. Zhang R, Engler A, Taylor V. Notch: An interactive player in neurogenesis and disease. Cell Tissue Res [Internet]. 2018;371(1):73-89.

141. Delgado I, Huang X, Jones S, Zhang L, Hatcher R, Gao B, Zhang P. Dynamic gene expression during the onset of myoblast differentiation in vitro. Genomics [Internet]. 2003;82(2):109-21.

142. Brack AS, Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Shen J, Rando TA. A temporal switch from notch to wnt signaling in muscle stem cells is necessary for normal adult myogenesis. Cell stem cell [Internet]. 2008;2(1):50-9.

143. Kadi F, Schjerling P, Andersen LL, Charifi N, Madsen JL, Christensen LR, Andersen JL. The effects of heavy resistance training and detraining on satellite cells in human skeletal muscles. J Physiol (Lond) [Internet]. 2004;558(3):1005-12.

144. Verdijk LB, Snijders T, Drost M, Delhaas T, Kadi F, Van Loon LJ. Satellite cells in human skeletal muscle; from birth to old age. Age [Internet]. 2014;36(2):545-57.

145. Grounds MD, Garrett KL, Lai MC, Wright WE, Beilharz MW. Identification of skeletal muscle precursor cells in vivo by use of MyoD1 and myogenin probes. Cell Tissue Res [Internet]. 1992;267(1):99-104.

146. Kitamura T, Kitamura YI, Funahashi Y, Shawber CJ, Castrillon DH, Kollipara R, DePinho RA, Kitajewski J, Accili D. A foxo/notch pathway controls myogenic differentiation and fiber type specification. J Clin Invest [Internet]. 2007 Sep;117(9):2477-85.

Appendix A: Raw Data

Demographic Data

Subject	Ht	Wt	Age	Leg Ex Max	120%	BMI		
	(cm)	(kg)	(yrs)	(kgs)	(kgs)	(kg/M^2)		
2	171.00	68.42	29			23.40		
3	185.00	79.06	20	90.72	108.86	23.10		
4	182.50	100.76	21			30.25		
5	185.00	82.40	19	108.86	131.54	24.08		
6	187.00	87.82	25			25.11		
7	169.50	73.38	21	104.33	124.74	25.54		
8	178.20	70.42	20			22.18		
9	178.00	78.02	19	95.26	113.40	24.62		
10	182.90	94.88	19			28.36		
11	174.00	63.70	21	90.72	108.86	21.04		
12	185.50	85.14	27			24.74		
13	181.00	80.22	26	104.33	124.74	24.49		
14	185.00	130.42	30	113.40	136.08	38.11		
15	192.50	92.86	23	104.33	124.74	25.06		
16	179.00	130.54	20	113.40	136.08	40.74		
17	177.50	86.86	30	122.47	147.42	27.57		
18	183.50	88.22	23	131.54	158.76	26.20		
19	170.00	70.48	27	108.86	131.54	24.39		
20	181.50	80.84	27	104.33	124.74	24.54		
		Damage	Group (n	n = 6)				
Damage Mean $(n = 6)$	178.75	76.13	21	99.04	118.69	23.81		
Stdv Damage $(n = 6)$	6.19	6.79	3	7.81	9.59	1.57		
Std Er Damage $(n = 6)$	2.53	2.77	1	3.19	3.91	0.64		
		Control	Group (n	i = 6)				
Control Mean $(n = 6)$	181.18	84.57	24			25.67		
Stdv Control $(n = 6)$	5.83	12.96	4			3.06		
Std Er Control $(n = 6)$	2.38	5.29	2			1.25		
Damage Group Without Subject 13 (n = 12)								
Damage Mean	180.04	88.07	23	107.35	128.90	27.08		
Stdv Damage	6.76373	21.3358	4	12.13	14.91404	6.01		
Std Er Damage	1.95	6.16	1	3.50	4.31	1.73		
	Control	Group W	ithout Su	bject 12 (n = 5)				

Control Mean	180.32	84.46	23		25.86
Stdv Control	6.07	8.80	4		3.38
Std Er Control	2.71	6.48	2		1.51

RT-qPCR mRNA Expression

Raw Data							
Subject #	Numb	Numb-Like	Notch	B2M	Group		
2 Pre	21.79	22.52	21.22	16.43	Control		
2 Day 2	23.72	24.43	23.99	17.57	Control		
2 Day 5	25.6	24.15	24.28	17.12	Control		
3 Pre	28.01	32.68	30.73	22.56	Damage		
3 Day 2	22.22	23.92	22.11	17.35	Damage		
3 Day 5	24.19	26.83	24.49	18.28	Damage		
4 Pre	21.67	23.93	23.09	16.32	Control		
4 Day 2	23.09	24.48	23.54	17.59	Control		
24Day 5	25.66	27.61	26.71	20.13	Control		
5 Pre	21.81	23.77	21.22	16.63	Damage		
5 Day 2	22.16	23.72	21.94	17.14	Damage		
5 Day 5	21.78	22.74	20.74	16.48	Damage		
6 Pre	23.1	23.88	21.99	17.29	Control		
6 Day 2	22.27	24.03	21.22	17.16	Control		
6 Day 5	22.17	23.54	23.33	16.46	Control		
7 Pre	26.35	27.37	27.4	21.55	Damage		
7 Day 2	21.17	22.13	20.9	15.7	Damage		
7 Day 5	20.27	21.62	19.28	15.54	Damage		
8 Pre	20.28	21.16	19.49	15.02	Control		
8 Day 2	21.51	21.45	20.49	15.76	Control		
8 Day 5	21.9	22.68	21.98	16.27	Control		
9 Pre	21.46	24.26	22.92	17.05	Damage		
9 Day 2	27.45	28.99	28.75	22.65	Damage		
9 Day 5	22.83	23.59	23.1	17.66	Damage		
10 Pre	20.12	21.28	21.02	15.36	Control		
10 Day 2	19.57	21.78	21.83	14.83	Control		
10 Day 5	20.36	21.54	21.05	14.71	Control		
11 Pre	27.66	28.04	28.54	20.81	Damage		
11 Day 2	26.75	28.58	29.1	20.11	Damage		
11 Day 5	21.45	22.02	22.33	14.8	Damage		
12 Pre	24.03	24.55	25.68	18.5	Control		
12 Day 2	27.22	29.8	26.99	20.65	Control		
12 Day 5	25.65	27.07	25.36	20.44	Control		

13 Pre	24.39	26.88		19.69	Damage
13 Day 2	27.18	30.55		20.59	Damage
13 Day 5	25.6	28.79		21.14	Damage
14 Pre	30.06	30.3	30.15	24.14	Damage
14 3-Hour	23.88	25.06	25.19	17.17	Damage
14 Day 2	22.15	24.29	24.17	16.85	Damage
14 Day 5	23.05	24.34	24.05	17.76	Damage
15 Pre	21.79	21.86	23.09	15.97	Damage
15 3-Hour	21.96	22.54	24.02	14.28	Damage
15 Day 2	20.17	20.58	21.43	13.7	Damage
15 Day 5	21.2	23.76	22.75	16.45	Damage
16 Pre	25.83	25.14	26.47	18.93	Damage
16 3-Hour	22.81	23.26	24.76	17.15	Damage
16 Day 2	22.99	24.1	24.36	16.96	Damage
16 Day 5	21.7	22.77	22.6	16.4	Damage
17 Pre	23.34	24.34	24.87	17.19	Damage
17 3-Hour	25.23	29.11	31.08	19.61	Damage
17 Day 2	22.3	22.57	22.5	15.31	Damage
17 Day 5	25.28	30.91	30.6	18.53	Damage
18 Pre	22.15	22.48	21.82	14.56	Damage
18 3-Hour	20.14	21.79	20.13	14.41	Damage
18 Day 2	21.64	22.56	22.25	14.48	Damage
18 Day 5	20.13	21.34	20.69	14.49	Damage
19 Pre	22.16	21.46	22.37	15.01	Damage
19 3-Hour	20.74	22.12	21.37	14.26	Damage
19 Day 2	22.52	22.36	22.72	15.53	Damage
19 Day 5	22.56	23.12	21.68	15.85	Damage
20 Pre	21.43	22.09	22.39	15.94	Damage
20 3-Hour	22.02	21.92	22.89	14.9	Damage
20 Day 2	22.97	22.18	22.05	15.99	Damage
20 Day 5	21.23	21.38	21.53	14.72	Damage

Subject #	Numb	Numb-Like	Notch
2 Pre			
2 Day 2	0.578344092	0.5864175	0.323088208
2 Day 5	0.115023456	0.5212329	0.193445624
3 Pre			
3 Day 2	1.494849249	11.712686	10.62948651
3 Day 5	0.726986259	2.9690471	3.89061979
4 Pre			

4 Day 2	0.901250463	1.647182	1.765405993
4 Day 5	0.882702996	1.0942937	1.140763716
5 Pre			
5 Day 2	1.117287138	1.4742692	0.864537231
5 Day 5	0.920187651	1.8403753	1.257013375
6 Pre			
6 Day 2	1.624504793	0.823591	1.558329159
6 Day 5	1.071773463	0.7120251	0.22221067
7 Pre			
7 Day 2	0.628506687	0.6551967	1.569168196
7 Day 5	1.049716684	0.8350879	4.316912946
8 Pre			
8 Day 2	0.712025098	1.3660403	0.835087919
8 Day 5	0.773782497	0.8293195	0.423372656
9 Pre			
9 Day 2	0.763129604	1.8276629	0.852634892
9 Day 5	0.590496331	2.4283898	1.347233577
10 Pre			
10 Day 2	1.01395948	0.4897101	0.395020656
10 Day 5	0.539614118	0.5321851	0.624165274
11 Pre			
11 Day 2	1.156688184	0.4233727	0.41754396
11 Day 5	1.148698355	1.0069556	1.148698355
12 Pre			
12 Day 2	0.486327474	0.1166291	9.781122222
12 Day 5	1.248330549	0.6689638	4.789914818
13 Pre			
13 Day 2	0.269807059	0.1466044	1.866065983
13 Day 5	1.180992661	0.7269863	2.732080514
14 Pre			
14 3-Hour	0.578344092	0.301452	0.248273124
14 Day 2	1.536875181	0.4117955	0.40332088
14 Day 5	1.547564994	0.7474246	0.823591017
15 Pre			
15 3-Hour	0.275476279	0.1934456	0.162667732
15 Day 2	0.637280314	0.5034778	0.655196702
15 Day 5	2.099433367	0.3737123	1.765405993
16 Pre			
16 3-Hour	2.361985323	1.0717735	0.952637998
16 Day 2	1.8276629	0.5248583	1.101905116
16 Day 5	3.031433133	0.8950251	2.531513188
17 Pre			

17 3-Hour	1.443929196	0.196146	0.072293011
17 Day 2	0.558643569	0.9265881	1.404444876
17 Day 5	0.659753955	0.0266448	0.0476956
18 Pre			
18 3-Hour	3.630076621	1.4539725	2.907945035
18 Day 2	1.347233577	0.8950251	0.702222438
18 Day 5	3.863745316	2.0994334	2.084931522
19 Pre			
19 3-Hour	1.591072968	0.3763117	1.189207115
19 Day 2	1.117287138	0.7684376	1.125058485
19 Day 5	1.356604327	0.5664419	2.887858391
20 Pre			
20 3-Hour	0.323088208	0.5471469	0.343885455
20 Day 2	0.356012549	0.9726549	1.310393404
20 Day 5	0.493116352	0.7022224	0.77916458

Western Blot: Micro BCA Results

Subject	Sample Vol (µl)	Buffer Vol (µl)	Final Vol (µl)	Load (ul)
14 Pre	2.89	8.66	11.54	11.54
14 3-Hour	2.25	6.74	8.99	8.99
14 Day 2	3.78	11.35	15.13	15.13
14 Day 5	2.88	8.64	11.53	11.53
15 Pre	2.84	8.53	11.38	11.38
15 3-Hour	3.07	9.20	12.26	12.26
15 Day 2	2.39	7.18	9.58	9.58
15 Day 5	2.52	7.55	10.06	10.06
16 Pre	2.99	8.97	11.96	11.96
16 3-Hour	2.99	8.98	11.97	11.97
16 Day 2	3.01	9.04	12.05	12.05
16 Day 5	2.80	8.41	11.21	11.21
17 Pre	2.84	8.52	11.35	11.35
17 3-Hour	2.88	8.65	11.54	11.54
17 Day 2	2.59	7.76	10.35	10.35
17 Day 5	2.38	7.14	9.53	9.53
18 Pre	2.86	8.58	11.44	11.44
18 3-Hour	2.96	8.88	11.83	11.83
18 Day 2	3.26	9.77	13.02	13.02
18 Day 5	2.29	6.86	9.15	9.15
19 Pre	2.80	8.39	11.19	11.19
19 3-Hour	2.64	7.91	10.55	10.55
19 Day 2	2.67	8.02	10.69	10.69

19 Day 5	2.46	7.38	9.83	9.83
20 Pre	2.36	7.08	9.43	9.43
20 3-Hour	2.99	8.98	11.97	11.97
20 Day 2	2.78	8.35	11.13	11.13
20 Day 5	2.98	8.95	11.93	11.93
3 Pre	4.78	14.33	19.11	19.11
3 Day 2	1.86	5.59	7.45	7.45
3 Day 5	4.71	14.13	18.84	18.84
5 Pre	3.73	11.19	14.92	14.92
5 Day 2	4.18	12.53	16.71	16.71
5 Day 5	3.54	10.62	14.16	14.16
7 Pre	5.64	16.93	22.58	22.58
7 Day 2	3.91	11.72	15.63	15.63
7 Day 5	4.45	13.36	17.81	17.81
9 Pre	3.44	10.32	13.75	13.75
9 Day 2	4.26	12.79	17.06	17.06
9 Day 5	3.50	10.51	14.01	14.01
11 Pre	3.96	11.87	15.83	15.83
11 Day 2	4.79	14.36	19.14	19.14
11 Day 5	7.01	21.04	28.05	28.05
2 Pre	5.44	16.33	21.78	21.78
2 Day 2	6.89	20.68	27.57	27.57
2 Day 5	4.90	14.69	19.59	19.59
4 Pre	6.80	20.40	27.20	27.20
4 Day 2	5.56	16.67	22.23	22.23
4 Day 5	4.27	12.80	17.06	17.06
6 Pre	6.96	20.87	27.82	27.82
6 Day 2	4.17	12.51	16.69	16.69
6 Day 5	5.56	16.67	22.23	22.23
8 Pre	5.57	16.72	22.30	22.30
8 Day 2	4.76	14.28	19.04	19.04
8 Day 5	5.60	16.79	22.39	22.39
10 Pre	5.29	15.87	21.16	21.16
10 Day 2	6.15	18.44	24.58	24.58
10 Day 5	5.48	16.43	21.91	21.91

Western Blot Poncaeu 3 Trace Average

Notch Poncaeu Average of 3 Tracings							
Subject	Group	Pre	3-Hour	Day 2	Day 5		
2	Control						
3	Damage	12672		25196	22793		
4	Control						
5	Damage	17243		28869	25935		
6	Control	13132		16129	12747		

7	Damage	13910		11743	18181
8	Control	46235		30591	32983
9	Damage	23952		19631	17261
10	Control	16122		22260	23031
11	Damage	26461		23667	2711
14	Damage	140680	166573	175059	141752
15	Damage	180656	177461	148065	171855
16	Damage	157790	173382	150630	162361
17	Damage	10599	11103	11682	10639
18	Damage	36964	41265	30891	39676
19	Damage	46475	47517	37576	51682
20	Damage	52370	55548	533850	60331

Numb Poncaeu Average of 3 Tracings							
Subject	Group	Pre	3-Hour	Day 2	Day 5		
2	Control	49654		49047	66521		
3	Damage	100022		57137	117098		
4	Control	54999		50625	46617		
5	Damage	43175		50551	36339		
6	Control	14785		27007	30600		
7	Damage	112699		123898	106663		
8	Control	110458		111920	93497		
9	Damage	64159		46794	51743		
10	Control	32193		38237	36686		
11	Damage	32124		40026	36284		
14	Damage	15396	12992	26905	22232		
15	Damage	32752	35532	41576	55646		
16	Damage	50793	56745	47306	42869		
17	Damage	18171	20486	8482	20936		
18	Damage	22033	20693	10894	19594		
19	Damage	18715	21852	17080	15982		
20	Damage	33154	37133	36526	3012		

Numb-Like Poncaeu Average of 3 Tracings							
Subject	Group	Pre	3-Hour	Day 2	Day 5		
2	Control	5756		6259	7461		
3	Damage	4970		3628	4260		
4	Control	4067		4218	3402		
5	Damage	3645		4949	4915		
6	Control	5762		7586	12952		
7	Damage	19999		24188	15025		
8	Control	5471		9776	8928		

9	Damage	19065		17719	18747
10	Control	34828		31400	40265
11	Damage	43385		38583	38570
14	Damage	35617	31042	23988	21563
15	Damage	39520	25167	34781	46929
16	Damage	42553	47099	42818	46145
17	Damage	8233	17052	19698	16442
18	Damage	19310	17081	15935	17666
19	Damage	23091	23206	22897	19174
20	Damage	40760	35693	37470	36408

Western Blot Image 3 Trace Average

Notch Average of 3 Tracings						
Subject	Group	Pre	3-Hour	Day 2	Day 5	
2	Control					
3	Damage	5334		21299	5247	
4	Control					
5	Damage	1067		3712	11687	
6	Control	5823		3980	4144	
7	Damage	5654		3935	4429	
8	Control	3988		6253	9715	
9	Damage	1319		176	1261	
10	Control	32818		11704	5169	
11	Damage	14806		3433	21442	
14	Damage	9815	10379	8196	481	
15	Damage	32455	22687	8157	7299	
16	Damage	14445	5116	18717	12716	
17	Damage	13957	3483	2505	1864	
18	Damage	6685	14007	6416	16077	
19	Damage	31437	15435	21951	16760	
20	Damage	15876	23300	328780	37080	

Numb Average of 3 Tracings							
Subject	Group	Pre	3-Hour	Day 2	Day 5		
2	Control	15098		21175	4874		
3	Damage	49140		12767	52436		
4	Control	35973		17303	16271		
5	Damage	23687		49186	54170		
6	Control	18769		56594	35105		
7	Damage	68195		26346	21806		
8	Control	104884		168282	113021		
9	Damage	44648		35310	52248		

10	Control	71697		41849	36548
11	Damage	43880		27081	23523
14	Damage	9856	6329	14809	6572
15	Damage	10853	12842	36091	2282
16	Damage	16242	12332	19866	1669
17	Damage	17559	44814	33846	31049
18	Damage	13890	17236	4451	31049
19	Damage	22033	19571	22424	18019
20	Damage	38811	89429	26510	29979

Numb-Like Average of 3 Tracings						
Subject	Group	Pre	3-Hour	Day 2	Day 5	
2	Control	13797		10278	27560	
3	Damage	5142		8355	15400	
4	Control	11021		8813	7536	
5	Damage	15838		10088	9068	
6	Control	1581		4265	3295	
7	Damage	3333		1951	1075	
8	Control	3097		2170	851	
9	Damage	2900		1609	2295	
10	Control	6380		3383	11343	
11	Damage	5952		3273	12178	
14	Damage	29310	14735	7021	3351	
15	Damage	25780	52347	35245	33842	
16	Damage	20342	11171	3293	4933	
17	Damage	3198	13460	4414	4660	
18	Damage	46799	52697	12259	65346	
19	Damage	153007	65879	120689	21442	
20	Damage	16126	155667	101605	75900	

Western Blots Protein/Poncaeu (AU)

Notch/Poncaeu (AU)								
Subject	Group	Pre	3-Hour	Day 2	Day 5			
2	Control							
3	Damage	421		845	230			
4	Control							
5	Damage	62		129	451			
6	Control	443		247	325			
7	Damage	406		335	244			
8	Control	86		204	295			
9	Damage	55		9	73			
10	Control	2036		526	224			
11	Damage	560		145	7909			

14	Damage	70	62	47	3
15	Damage	180	128	55	42
16	Damage	92	30	124	78
17	Damage	1317	314	214	175
18	Damage	181	339	208	405
19	Damage	676	325	584	324
20	Damage	303	419	616	615

Numb/Poncaeu (AU)							
Subject	Group	Pre	3-Hour	Day 2	Day 5		
2	Control	304		432	73		
3	Damage	491		223	448		
4	Control	654		342	349		
5	Damage	549		973	1491		
6	Control	1269		2096	1147		
7	Damage	605		213	204		
8	Control	950		1504	1209		
9	Damage	696		755	1010		
10	Control	2227		1094	996		
11	Damage	1366		677	648		
14	Damage	640	487	550	296		
15	Damage	331	361	868	41		
16	Damage	320	217	420	39		
17	Damage	966	2188	3990	1483		
18	Damage	630	833	409	1585		
19	Damage	1177	896	1313	1127		
20	Damage	1171	2408	726	9953		

Numb-Like/Poncaeu (AU)								
Subject	Group	Pre	3-Hour	Day 2	Day 5			
2	Control	2397		1642	3694			
3	Damage	1035		2303	3615			
4	Control	2710		2089	2215			
5	Damage	4345		2038	1845			
6	Control	274		562	254			
7	Damage	167		81	72			
8	Control	566		222	95			
9	Damage	152		91	122			
10	Control	183		108	282			
11	Damage	137		85	316			
14	Damage	823	475	293	155			

15	Damage	652	2080	1013	721
16	Damage	478	237	77	107
17	Damage	388	789	224	283
18	Damage	2424	3085	769	3699
19	Damage	6626	2839	5271	1118
20	Damage	396	4361	2712	2085